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REFRESHINGLY
DIFFERENT
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largest chain of hotels in the mid-priced hotel sector. Like 
the fruit we are named after, Lemon Tree Hotels are 
fresh, cool and sparkling with zest. 

signature lemon fragrance welcome you at Lemon Tree. 

their bright interiors and spirited environment.

hotel chain in India that has been designed keeping in 

to home’ comfort. 

We have built an award winning brand by delivering a stay 



RWE ARE HOTELS

mid-priced hotel sector1 chain by owned rooms2,3 

overall hotel sector chain by owned rooms2,3 

Targeted primarily at the 
upper-midscale hotel 

segment, typically 
comparable to 3/4-star

Targeted primarily at the 
midscale hotel segment,
typically comparable to 

3-star

Targeted primarily at the 
economy hotel segment,
typically comparable to 

2-star

Notes:
1. Includes upper-midscale, midscale and economy hotels
2. Source : ‘Industry Report - Mid Priced Hotel Sector’ prepared by Horwath HTL India (” Horwath Report “); as of June 30,2017
3. On the basis of controlling interest in owned and leased rooms
Above details as of May 25, 2018                              

Lemon Tree Hotels Lemon Tree Hotels

#1 

#3

Rooms

Hotels

1,301

10
Rooms

Hotels

2,584

32
Rooms

Hotels

1,071

8
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KEY STATISTICS

32

current
operating

hotels

22

for hotels
under

development

54

50

operating
hotels*

28

hotels under
development* 

78

hotels 
by end of

26 of 41
Eligible hotels operating for at least a year,

747,666

4,956

rooms*

3,196

rooms under
development*

8,152
Rooms by

* operating rooms include 2,796 owned, 481 leased and 1,679 managed rooms; Pipeline includes 1,434 owned,  91 leased and 1,671 managed rooms                                 
Above details as of May 25, 2018
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WE ARE
LEMON TREE

HOTELS

mid-priced hotel chain focused on meeting the growing 
transient stay needs of the traditionally underserved 
middle class in India. We do this by combining 

locations and a high value-for-money proposition. 
 
Today, we are India’s largest mid-priced hotel chain and 
the third largest overall, in owned and leased rooms. We 
operate in the fastest growing hotel segments – 
upper-midscale, midscale and economy, targetted at the 
middle class Indian consumer. We are the only integrated 
hospitality company in the mid-priced hotel sector in 
India, which operates with end-to-end capabilities across 

land to owning, developing, managing and marketing 
hotels.  

and operate 50 hotels in 32 cities with 4,956 rooms. 
 
Due to the dynamic and evolving nature of the Indian 
guests’ expectations and based on deep market research, 
we have created three brands in order to capture three 

gamut of the domestic mid-priced hotel space in India and 
includes: 
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LEMON TREE
PREMIER

LEMON TREE
HOTELS

upper-midscale business and leisure customer who 
wants to use hotels at strategic locations and is willing 
to pay a premium for service and product. 

Lemon Tree Hotels is targeted primarily at the midscale 
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to its customers. 
 

RED FOX
BY LEMON TREE

HOTELS

1,301

10

Upper-
Midscale

2,584

32

Midscale

1,071

8

Economy
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and value across the mid-priced hotel sector, we have 
created a competitive advantage in our markets, which 
have traditionally been underserved in terms of presence 

independent hotels with fragmented and localised 

The mid-priced hotel sector is expected to have competi-

solutions in tier II and tier III cities. 
 

managing and marketing hotels. We undertake our 
business through: (i) direct ownership of hotel properties; 
(ii) long-term leases for existing hotels which are owned 
by third parties; and (iii) operating and management 

owned hotels, 6 leased hotels and 22 managed hotels. We 
also have project design, management and development 

In order to maintain our leadership position in the 
mid-priced hotel sector, we have focused on the 
following aspects of our operations:

eloping projects and delivering operating cost 

  a value-for-money proposition to our guests. We 

• 
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development to commencement of operations for our 
hotels and maintain consistent brand experience at lower 
costs. 

employee selection, training and engagement, we believe 
that our service standards have resulted in higher than 
average occupancy rates and guest satisfaction. In the 

our owned and leased hotels had an average occupancy 

were operational for at least a year and were eligible for 

 
initiatives and human resources strategy. We provide 
employment to opportunity deprived Indians, including 

economically, educationally and socially marginalized 
sections of society. We believe these initatives lead to an 
engaged and committed workforce. We have been 

were ranked the 4th

and were the only hotel company in the top 10. We were 
ranked 12th
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present across the length and breadth of the country. 

chain of hotels and resorts in the mid-priced hotel 
sector, consisting of the upper-midscale, midscale and 
economy hotel segments.VISION

OUR
FOOTPRINT
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We plan to expand in an asset-light way by focusing on 

management contracts. We will also continue to 

expansion strategy is to continue to grow in both tier I 
and tier II cities important for commerce as well as tier 

travellers. We also intend to add more leisure and 
resort properties to our portfolio.  

pipeline of 3,196 rooms in 28 hotels across 22 new 
cities. This includes 1,434 owned and 91 leased rooms 
located in deep demand and high barrier-to-entry 

development pipeline for managed hotels includes 

OUR
EXPANSION 

PLANS 

Note: For FY21E, share based on total rooms by end of FY21 and 
Horwath projection of total mid-priced sector supply in these markets
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Jaipur

Mumbai

Bengaluru

Pune

Goa

Ahmedabad

Delhi NCR

Kolkata

Hyderabad

Chennai

  business travellers 

  (based on hotel inventory) 

optimize pricing

  close to major business centers, airports, etc. 

STRATEGICALLY 
POSITIONED IN
KEY GEOGRAPHIES 
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OUR COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE :
DIFFERENTIATED BUSINESS MODEL

  

 

 

 

 

 

over industry in the 
midscale segment, in 

industry in the 
upper-midscale and 
economy segments, in 

over industry in the 
upper-midscale, 
midscale and conomy 
segments respectively, 

Value for Money 
Pricing

 

 

 

Occupancy
(Utilization)

Premium  

 

 

RevPAR
(Revenue per room) 

Premium

CUSTOMERS

over industry in the 
upper-midscale, 
midscale and conomy 
segments respectively, 

 

 

 

 

 

Lower Average 
Operating 

Expenses/room

industry in the upper-midscale, 
midscale and economy 

ratio. Lower by 30%, 20% and 
40% over industry in the 
upper-midscale, midscale and 
economy segments respectively, 

 

 

 

 

 

Higher Gross Operating 

Higher Revenue and lower 
operating expense leads to 

average development cost 
leads to higher Return on 

LOWER COST & HIGHER PROFIT

 

 

 

 

 

Presence across value 
chain

per room (excluding the cost 
of land), for our owned 
hotels developed between 

2015 was ₹ 5.9 million, ₹ 5.0 
million and ₹ 4.5 million in 
the upper-midscale, 
midscale and economy hotel 
segments, respectively. 

Industry average for the same 
segments was ₹ 7.2 million, 
₹ 5.6 million and ₹ 3.5 million.

Lower than industry 
average development 

cost per room

Ranked 4th in India and only 
Hotel chain in the top 10 

Ranked 12th

Large Workplaces in 2018 

company in the top 15.

Culture & service 

Target customer: 
domestic travellers

PROCESS

hotel sector in India, which 
operates with end-to-end 
capabilities across the value 
chain, from land to guest, 

owning, developing, 
managing and marketing 
hotels.

Key for quicker and low cost 
development of hotels

82% of our guests were domestic 

26 out of 41 hotels were 
awarded the TripAdvisor 

`

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
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1593 

Leased Hotels ged Hotels 
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 Occupancy levels 

1,920 
2,708 3,001 3,249 3,698 

4,870 

246
519

1,033

1,440

Lemon T Lemon Tree Hotels Red ox Hotels 

Lemon T Lemon Tree Hotels Red ox Hotels 

ADR  (`)

Room additions 

RevPAR (`)

Lemon T Lemon Tree Hotels Red ox Hotels 

rop in occupancy levels is on account of new owned/leased supply addition by 
Lemon T

CAGR 

2,904 
3,680 

4,121 
4,843 

R R R
 

EBITDA & EBITDA margins 

EBITD ` million) EBITD

(83) (115) 

225  

459  

PAT + Depreciation) (` million)

Revenue from operations (` million)

Debt/Equity 

0.51 0.46 0.50 

0.65 
0.81 

rom Lemon T rospectus rom audited balance sheet. 

CAGR 
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SUSTAINABILITY INITIATIVES
OPPORTUNITY DEPRIVED INDIANS (ODIs) 
INCLUDES EMPLOYEES WITH DISABILITY (EwD) 
& EMPLOYEES FROM ECONOMICALLY/SOCIALLY 
MARGINALISED SEGMENTS (EcoSoc) 

Lemon Tree believes that the brand should stand for 

 work 
environment, which seeks to bring together people of 

intellectual, social or economic disabilities) must be 
provided the same opportunities as others to realize 
their full potential and live with dignity.  

By creating a supportive environment that allows them 
to deliver their best, we are able to play a part in social 
inclusiveness, opportunity/livelihood creation and 
therefore nation building. 
 

mainstreaming 
‘Opportunity Deprived Indians’ i.e. ODIs into its 

Employees with Disability (EwD):
 

Physical Disability 

  
 
Intellectual Disability 

 

or are from the Economically/ Socially weak segment 
(EcoSoc): 

  women  

  tribal/interior areas of any state, etc. 
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For any of the 
abandoned /battered /destitute /divorced women), we 
consider those who have studied up to Class 9 and not 
beyond that. 

 

 
Supporting BPL i.e., Below Poverty Line communities
 

economically weak communities.
 
Supporting Government
 

people. Lemon Tree Hotels has set its own internal 
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B. Tribal Art 

Lemon Tree Hotels is among the largest buyers, 

This comprises primarily bronze age bell metal 

support tribal craftsmen from this region by showcasing 
their art extensively across all of its hotels.

C. Giving Back To Society
 

societies: 
Goonj

Suniye
Ru
children from economically weaker sections of society. 

AkshayaPatra
cus is to eliminate hunger in the city. It regularly 

provides a free meal to approximately 2000 destitute 
people in Delhi, across the city. 
Muskaan

vides comprehensive education, vocational training 

and work opportunities to young people who are 
intellectually challenged. 
Ramanujan Society
Donates gifts to students for successfully clearing the IIT 
entrance exam.
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D. Art Objects Through People For Animals

goes to support the welfare and care of animals across 
India. 

E. Lemon Tree Group - K9 Policy 

Lemon Tree Hotels adopts a stray dog at each of its 
hotels across India. We name the dog, inoculate it and 
feed it well. Based on the personality of the dog, he/she 
is assigned a ‘fun’ role in the hotel and this brings joy to 
employees and guests alike. 
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AWARDS AND ACCOLADES

•   Ranked 4th

•   Ranked 12th

2012, 2016

Ministry of 
Manpower, 
Singapore

National Centre for Promotion 
of Employment for Disabled 
People

India’s Leading Cross - Disability 
Advocacy Organization

ASIAN 
HUMAN CAPITAL 
AWARD

wtm
responsible
tourism

23
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great pleasure to welcome all our new shareholders to 
the Lemon Tree family. The response to our maiden 

shareholders and enhancing our visibility and brand 
image. We have now started a new chapter in our 
journey and are excited about the business prospects 
going forward. It will also be our endeavour to maintain 
best practices in investor interactions at all times.

The hotel industry in India has moved from having 
more luxury and upper upscale rooms (5 star 

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE

estimated to be available in the mid-priced hotels sector 

period. This imbalance of supply exceeding demand 

caused by a slowdown in the Indian economy, has 
resulted in a moderate performance in the hotel 
industry over the past decade. This lack of demand and 

environment where hotels across India were reluctant 
to increase room rates to levels that are reasonable and 

return on capital employed. This trend has, however 
begun to change over the past 12 months where the 
pace of demand has started to rise while supply growth 
has materially slowed down. With the changing 
demand-supply dynamics dominated by demand 
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growth, occupancies are expected to improve 

thereby enabling strong improvement in room rates.

hotels across 32 cities in India. We have undisputed 
leadership in India’s mid-priced hotel sector, and are 
the third largest hotel company in India overall, on the 
basis of owned and leased rooms.

Based on our understanding of the Indian consumer, 
we have created three hotel brands to address the 
dynamic and evolving nature of the middle class Indian 

primarily at the upper-midscale hotel segment is 
broadly comparable to a 3.5 to 4-star hotel; Lemon Tree 
Hotels which is targeted primarily at the midscale hotel 

Lemon Tree Hotels which is targeted primarily at the 
economy hotel segment is comparable to a 2-star hotel. 

mid-priced hotel sector, without overlap or brand 
dilution. 

We have built end-to-end capabilities across the hotel 

to designing, developing, owning, managing and 
marketing hotels. We have in-house project design, 
project management and project development 

development to operationalization of our assets. 

designs and innovative space planning with strict 

time. This has enabled us to have the lowest 
development cost per room in the mid-priced hotel 
industry in India. 

value-for-money proposition to our guests, which drives 
an occupancy premium across our hotels compared to 
industry averages. Higher occupancy coupled with 

management and customer relationship teams work 
together to increase hotel occupancies leveraging our 

launched by us less than 3 years ago and has gained 

We are laser-focused on our costs, with operating costs 

this has been achieved without compromising on our 
service delivery or customer delight as highlighted by 

of our 41 eligible hotels, and also substantiated by the 

structure has helped us during challenging periods and 
with the expected future increase in hotels rates, will 

We have instituted an inclusive culture and undertaken 
several sustainability initiatives. We provide 

well as people from economically, educationally and 

disabilities such as speech and hearing impairment, 
orthopaedically handicapped, low vision and acid 
survivors and people with intellectual disability like 

from communities who do not get employment 
opportunities easily on account of a lack of education; 
widowed, separated and abandoned women; orphans 
and individuals below the poverty line. This initiative 

with disabilities in particular must be provided the same 
opportunities as other Indians to realize their full 
potential and enable them to live with dignity. We have 
received several awards for these initiatives such as the 

hotel with 49 rooms 
in May 2004 and as of 
May 25, 2018 operate 
4,956 rooms in 50 hotels 
across 32 cities in India. 
We have undisputed 
leadership in India’s 
mid-priced hotel sector, 
and are the third largest 
hotel company in India 
overall, on the basis of 
owned and leased rooms.
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inclusive initiatives have led to an engaged and 
committed workforce. We have been ranked among the 

th 

hotel company in the top 10. In calendar year 2018, we 
were ranked the 12th

decades of experience in the hospitality industry and a 
successful track record of improving hotel performance 
across all relevant parameters.

capital deployment strategy, which has enabled us to 
maintain a strong balance sheet with a low debt to 

strategy in 2012, Lemon Tree formed a joint venture 

completed and operational properties. This was 

then used by us to develop new hotels. This structure 
has enabled us to leverage our development and 
operating expertise and earn development and 
management fees from these hotels. This model is 

leveraging our growing brand awareness and 
operational excellence, we started entering into 
asset-light management contracts from 2012 onwards 

and branding to third-party owned hotels, while 

synergies, as well as extension of our network and 
brand presence in certain geographies.

improving fundamentals on the back of growth in 
domestic travel, which is expected to continue to rise 
with increasing urbanisation, higher disposable 
incomes and changing aspirations of the consuming 
Indian middle class. We will continue to build and 
leverage our scale, which will create high 
barriers-to-entry due to our strong position in key 
markets across India. We are well-positioned to 
capitalize on this enormous domestic consumption led 
growth opportunity as we continue to expand our 
geographical presence and gain market share in both 
underserved and demand dense regions across India. 
We have a solid pipeline of owned, leased and managed 

hotels under development across the country, which is 

operational over the next three years. In the next 12 
months alone, we will be opening 869 owned and 
leased rooms in deep demand and high barrier-to-entry 

highly fragmented branded mid-priced hotel supply 
in India.

agreements will enable us to diversify sources of 
revenue, distribute costs, source more cheaply and 
provide career development opportunities to 
employees even as we monetize our brands and 
management team while minimizing investment risk. 
We also intend to continue using our asset 
monetization strategy to generate capital from select 
investors, in order to fund organic and inorganic growth 
opportunities, expand or redevelop our owned hotels 
and reduce debt.

value-for-money proposition and low development and 

for the hotel industry, and as the cycle starts to turn in 

improve over the next few years due to 2 reasons: the 
highest demand-supply mismatch will be seen in the 
mid-priced sector leading to sustained price hikes and 

room inventory in high rate and high occupancy 

including shareholders, investors, bankers, creditors 
and employees for their continued support. I express 
my sincere gratitude to all the members of our Board 
for their continued insights and invaluable guidance as 
we explore new opportunities and move ahead with 

Warm regards,
Patanjali G. Keswani
Chairman & Managing Director
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE

  Patanjali Govind Keswani 
  (Chairman and Managing Director)

• Bachelor's degree in electrical engineering from the  

  Rattan Keswani 
  (Deputy Managing Director)

  and has been with Lemon Tree Hotels for over 6 years 

  Aditya Madhav Keswani
  

  Ravi Kant Jaipuria
  

  leader in India

  beverage industry 
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  Niten Malhan
 

•  Bachelor's degree in technology (computer science 
and engineering) from the Indian Institute of 

entrepreneurship 

  Willem Albertus Hazeleger
  

•  Executive master's degree in business administration 
from the Institut Europé

•  Executive master's degree in business administration 

  Gopal Sitaram Jiwarajka
  (Independent Director)

of Bombay

and Industry

manufacturing, marketing and consumer goods

  Freyan Jamshed Desai   
  (Independent Director)

of companies in India
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  Paramartha Saikia
  (Independent Director)

 Delhi

  India

  marketing and brand development

  Pradeep Mathur
  (Independent Director)

  India

  Arvind Singhania
  (Independent Director) 

 Ester Industries Limited

 production, supply chain and people management 

  Ashish Kumar Guha
  (Independent Director)

  India Limited

investment banking, advisory and industrial goods
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  Davander Tomar
  

 • Bachelor's degree in commerce and law from the 

• Been with Lemon Tree Hotels for over 15 years 

  Vikramjit Singh
  (President)

  Delhi

• Been with Lemon Tree Hotels for over 13 years

  Jagdish Kumar Chawla
 

  Dairy in key managerial positions

  engineering, constructions and operations
• Been with Lemon Tree Hotels for over 15 years
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  Kapil Sharma
  

  Delhi

• Been with Lemon Tree Hotels for over 13 years

  Sumant Jaidka 
  

  managerial posts

• Been with Lemon Tree Hotels for over 11 years 

  Prashant Mehrotra

  across key managerial posts

• Been with Lemon Tree Hotels for over 12 years
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS
MACROECONOMIC OVERVIEW OF INDIA
India is the seventh largest economy in the world with 
nominal GDP of USD 2.26 trillion and is third in terms of 
purchasing power parity, as per 2016 estimates. (Source: 
World Development Indicators Database, World Bank, 17 

Based on an article released by World Economic Forum 
(WEF) in November 2016, the middle class population in 
India has doubled from 300 mn to 600 mn between 2004 
and 2012 and is likely to overtake that of US and China by 
2027. India’s urban population has increased from 27.8% 
of total population (per Census 2001) to 31.2% of the total 
population (per Census 2011).

Driven by changing aspirations and increasing disposable 
income of the younger middle class Indians, Lemon 
Tree is favourably positioned to capitalize the fastest 
growing hotel segments i.e. upper-midscale, midscale and 
economy segments.

INDUSTRY STRUCTURE & OUTLOOK

Hotel Supply Penetration in India
The Indian hotel market is comparatively under- penetrated. 
The following table outlines the penetration of hotel supply 
in the United States, China, India and the world:

Region Supply of 
Hotel Rooms 

(in million)1

Population 
(in million)2

Penetration 
(Rooms/ 1,000 

people)

World 16.2 7,349 2.2
USA 5.0 321 15.7
China 3.8 1,379 2.7
India 0.2 1,211 0.2

Source   1. STR; STR census inventory as at December 2016. 
 2.  United Nations - Population and Vital Statistics Report 2017. 

Currently, India has more than half of its population below 
the age of 25 and more than 65% below the age of 35. 
Estimates made by PwC (in a study focusing on the Indian 
workplace of 2022), based on current population growth 
rates indicate that by 2020, the average age of an Indian 
will be 29 years, compared with an average age of 37 and 
48 years respectively for China and Japan. This young 
population will help constitute a large working population, 
with an estimated 64% of India’s population to be in the 
working age population by 2020-21 (Source: Union budget 
and economic survey 2013).

2018F

7.7
7.8

7.9
8.1 8.2

2019F 2020F 2021F 2022F

India GDP Forecast

G
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7.4
7.2
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Segments March 31, 
2002

March 31, 
2009

March 31, 
2017

March 
31, 2021 

(expected)

CAGR 2002 to 
2017 (%)

CAGR 2017 to 
2021 (%)

Luxury-Upper Upscale 15,052 22,253 47,331 56,968 7.9 4.7
Upscale 4,661 7.736 24,825 34,530 11.8 8.6
Upper-Midscale 4,458 7,989 24,840 34,208 12.1 8.3
Midscale-Economy 1,895 7,121 28,363 44,093 19.8 11.7
Total 26,066 45,099 125,359 169,799 10.0 7.9
% of Total
Luxury-Upper Upscale 57.7 49.3 37.8 33.6
Upscale 17.9 17.2 19.8 20.3
Upper-Midscale 17.1 17.7 19.8 20.1
Midscale-Economy 7.3 15.8 22.6 26.0

Source: Industry Report-Mid-Priced Hotel Sector Horwath HTL India

India has moved from having more luxury and upper 
upscale rooms, at the start of the century, to a more 
balanced supply scenario, with 19.8% of the supply 
estimated to be available in each of the upscale and 
upper-midscale segments, 22.6% of the supply estimated 
to be available in the midscale and economy segments 
and 37.8% of the supply estimated to be available in the 
luxury and upper upscale levels.

Supply and Demand
Demand levels appear to be modest over the course 
of the last several years, particularly when taking into 
account the occupancy levels at hotels. Demand across 

years 2007 and 2016. Supply grew at a CAGR of 13.7% 
during this period. For upscale and upper-midscale 

segment, the demand to supply growth gap in terms of 

percentage point, and it was at +2.9 percentage points for 
the midscale and economy segments.

This slowdown in demand growth, starting from the global 

Indian economy, has resulted in a moderate performance 

rates to levels that are reasonable and which would 
commensurate with the hotel property standards. This 
trend has changed over the last ~12 months with demand 
growth leading to a gradual improvement in performance.

The following chart sets forth the supply and demand for 
hotel rooms across India:

   

Slowing supply and rising demand is expected to increase occupancy

Demand  10.8%
Supply  14.9%

Demand  15.1%
Supply  15.1%

Demand  13.7%
Supply  8.4%

Demand  12.5%
Supply  8.0%

No. of rooms in ‘000s

FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21

Occupancy (%) Rooms supply per day (‘000) OccupancyRooms demand per day (‘000)

Rooms supply per day (‘000)

Rooms demand per day (‘000)

Source: Industry Report-Mid-Priced Hotel Sector Horwath HTL India
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in the foreseeable future, as the pace of demand has started to rise, while supply growth has slowed. There has been 

the pace of demand has started to rise, while supply growth has slowed. Improved occupancies are expected to create a 
base for improvement in room rates.
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Hotel Sector Segment Wise Performance

2017:

The hotel sector in India experienced a decrease in 

demand in these periods which was caused by substantial 
growth in supply and a parallel decline in demand. The 
slackening of occupancy invariably leads to a rate decline 
thereby negatively impacting RevPAR levels. Further, rate 
revival lags occupancy revival. 

as demand conditions have improved and the rate of 
new supply has decelerated. The upward trend in RevPAR 
has been led by occupancy and is expected to continue. 
Further, ADR is now expected to improve due to higher 
occupancy levels.

HOTEL SECTOR DEMAND DRIVERS

Business Travel
Business travel comprises inbound and domestic visits 
for business-related purposes. This includes travel on 
corporate account and travel by individual business 
travellers. This segment is a predominant source of 
demand for hotels located primarily in business-oriented 

Gurugram; and Cyberabad in Hyderabad.

Leisure Travel
Leisure travel comprises vacation travel, including short 
duration vacations. Vacation travel is concentrated 
during school holidays (summer, Diwali, and Christmas). 

and improved road and air connectivity have materially 

encouraged short stay vacations, including those taken 
on weekends and extended weekends. Seasonality of 

climactic factors so that it mainly occurs between October 

and travel budgets) during the summer and monsoon 
seasons. 

MICE (Meeting, Incentives, Conferences & Exhibitions)
MICE requirements  are mainly corporate driven for 
conferences, training programs and other events. The 
demand locally arises during the working week and occurs 
across of the year, barring the main holiday periods and 
the period from March through to May. MICE demand 
tends to carry a price sensitivity. Hotels in predominantly 
business locations will generate MICE demand for training 
and corporate seminars, which could be day or residential 
events. Conferences that include recreational elements 
choose either city center locations or resort destinations. 

Weddings and Social Travel
The weddings and social segment mainly involves 
domestic travel for family weddings, destination weddings, 
and other family celebrations. Other social demand also 
arises from time to time with guests increasingly seeking 
to use hotels in preference to the earlier practice of 
staying with family. Such demand will likely gravitate to 
hotels that have the required function areas, guest room 
capacity and also the desired quality to host such events. 
This does not, however, rule out upper-midscale and mid-
scale hotels, because these can cater to the price-sensitive 
demands. In fact, such hotels are often market leaders 
in Tier II and Tier III and could then attract the higher 
element of local demand in those markets.

FY07 FY08 FY09 FY10 FY11 FY12 FY13 FY14 FY15 FY16 FY17

9,000

8,000

7,000

6,000

5,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

0

75%

70%

65%

60%

55%

O
cc

up
an

cy

AD
R 

&
 R

ev
PA

R 
(`

)

All India Upper-Midscale RevPAR All India Midscale & Economy RevPAR

All India RevPARADR Occupancy

Source: Industry Report-Mid-Priced Hotel Sector, Horwath HTL India

37

Diplomatic Travel
Diplomatic travel brings in government leaders and 
representatives of other countries, arriving for a variety 
purposes and are often accompanied by large trade 
delegations, as well as diplomats posted to India and 
using hotels during the transition period. This demand is 

that are source markets for international travel. Thus, New 
Delhi gets the bulk of such demand followed by Mumbai.

Airlines and airline crew
This segment helps create an occupancy base  for hotels, 

could arise from international or domestic carriers, while 

more price sensitive airlines are open to using upper-
midscale hotels. This demand is relatively nominal and 
mainly takes place for airport hotels.

Transit demand
Persons on overnight transit between cities also need 
to use hotel accommodation, which are typically located 

demand could occur on the inward and outward leg of 
international travel between cities that are connected 
through a regional hub. 



38

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal Year 2018
(` in lakhs)

2017
(` in lakhs)

Change %

REVENUE
Revenue from Operations 48,426 41,208 18%
Other Income 781 823 (5%)
Total Income 49,207 42,031 17%
EXPENSES
Cost of food and beverages consumed 4,359 3,533 23%

10,957 9,689 13%
Other expenses 19,493 16,339 19%
Total Expenses 34,809 29,561 18%
EBITDA 14,398 12,470 16%
Finance costs 7,837 7,757 1%
Depreciation and amortization expense 5,262 5,101 3%

57 - -
1,833 (33) -

Current tax 628 319 97%
Deferred tax charge/(credit) (250) 160 -

1,455 (512) -
Other Comprehensive Income (2) 7 -

1,453 (505) -
6,715 4,596 46%

Fiscal year 2018 compared to Fiscal year 2017

Income
The Company’s total income increased by 17% from  
` ` 49,207 lakhs for 

by 18% from `  
` 
26% increase in revenues from room rentals from  
` ` 34,161 lakhs 

primarily due to a 13% increase in ADR across owned and 
leased hotels from ` ` 3,896 

 
2,833 as of March 31, 2017 to 3,277 as of March 31, 2018, 

The Company’s management fees income from managed 
hotels increased by 127% from ` 
year 2017 to ` 

Expenses
Total expenses increased by 18% from ` 29,561 lakhs 

` 
year 2018 as 444 new rooms were added during the 
year. Hotel operating cost/room/day increased by 6% in 

operating cost/room/day increased by 4.5%. Typically, the  
Company’s operating expenses per room grew by  
4-5% YoY.

EBITDA
The Company’s EBITDA increased by 16% from ` 12,469 

` 14,398 lakhs for the 

2018, EBITDA margins improved by 250 bps from 29.7% to 
32.2%.

Depreciation and amortization expenses
Depreciation and amortization expense increased by 
3% from ` ` 5,262 

addition of two new owned hotels. 

Finance costs
Total debt increased by 27% from ` 79,870 lakhs for the 

` 
Total debt on operating hotels increased by 28% from 
` ` 76,872 lakhs 

` ` 7,837 lakhs for 

rates. The Company’s cost of debt reduced by 208 bps 

` 1,455 lakhs for the 
` 512 lakhs for 
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increased by 46% from of ` 4,596 lakhs for the  

Performance by Brands – FY18 vs. FY17

Parameters Occupancy Rate (%) Average Daily Rate (`)
room (` lakhs)

Hotel level EBITDAR 
Margin

By Brand FY18 FY17 Change 
(%)

FY18 FY17 Change 
(%)

FY18 FY17 Change 
(%)

FY18 FY17 Change 
(%)

Lemon Tree Premier 77.2% 74.6% 3.5% 4,773 4,123 16% 8.8 7.5 17% 46% 43% 7%
Lemon Tree Hotels 74.2% 77.1% (3.8%) 3,848 3,522 9% 5.1 6.0 (15%) 36% 42% (14%)
Red Fox Hotels 77.2% 79.1% (2.4%) 2,860 2,372 21% 4.3 4.0 8% 45% 43% 5%

` 

Lemon Tree Premier
ADR increased by 16% from ` 
` 

year 2018. EBITDAR/room increased by 17% from ` 7.5 lakhs 
` 

Lemon Tree Hotels
ADR increased by 9% from ` 
to ` 

from ` ` 5.1 lakhs for 

room was due to new supply addition of 188 rooms during 
the year which requires time to stabilize.

Red Fox Hotels
ADR increased by 21% from ` 
to ` 

` ` 4.3 lakhs for the 

EBITDAR/room was due to new supply addition of 154 
rooms during the year which requires time to stabilize.

Fiscal year Adult Hotels 
(Stable - older 
than 3 years) 

Toddler Hotels 
(Stabilizing - 
between 1-3 

years old) 

Infant Hotels 
(New - less than 

1 year old) 

Under-
development 

hotels

Hotels
FY18 21 3 4

7
FY17 21 3 -

Operating Rooms 
(year-end)

FY18 2,727 1281 422
1,525

FY17 2,727 1061 -

Occupancy Rate (%)
FY18 77.6% 61.5% 66.0% Deep demand 

markets (high 
occupancies)FY17 77.5% 51.6% -

Average Daily Rate (`)
FY18 3,900 5,274 3,422 1.5x of Adult 

Hotels in that 
year4FY17 3,411 5,302 -

Hotel level EBITDAR2/
room (` in Lakhs)

FY18 6.7 4.9 1.5
High4

FY17 6.2 3.2 -

Hotel level EBITDAR2 
Margin (%)

FY18 44% 36% 15%
High4

FY17 43% 32% -

Hotel level RoCE*,3 (%)
FY18 12% 6% (1%) 2.0x of Adult 

Hotels in that 
year4FY17 11% 6% -

* Hotel level RoCE for hotels older than 5 years is 13% for FY18.
Notes: 
1) 22 rooms were added in Lemon Tree Wildlife Resort, Bandhavgarh in November 2017
2) Hotel level EBITDAR measures hotel level results before lease rentals, debt service, depreciation and corporate expenses of the owned/

3) Hotel level RoCE is calculated as : (Hotel level EBITDAR - lease rentals)/Capital deployed for operational owned & leased hotels.
4) Post stabilization.
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For providing better clarity, the Company has divided its 
owned & leased hotels into four categories based on their 
aging or stage of stabilization. Adult hotels – older than 3 
years or stable hotels, Toddler hotels – between 1-3 years 
old or stabilizing hotels, Infant hotels – less than 1 year old 
or new hotels and under-development hotels.

Adult Hotels (Stable - older than 3 years)
Adult hotels include 21 hotels with 2,727 operational 
rooms. ADR increased by 14% from `
year 2017 to `

respectively. EBITDAR/room increased by 8% from ` 6.2 
`

year 2018. Hotel RoCE which is calculated as : (Hotel level 
EBITDAR – lease rental)/Capital deployed, increased from 

Toddler Hotels (Stabilizing - between 1-3 years old)
Toddler hotels include 3 hotels with 128 operational 
rooms. ADR decreased by 1% from `
year 2017 to `

by 53% from ` ` 4.9 

Infant Hotels (New - less than 1 year old)
Infant hotels include 4 hotels with 422 operational rooms. 

` 3,422. Occupancy for 

` 1.5 lakhs. Hotel RoCE was (1%) for 

Under-development hotels
Under-development hotels include 7 hotels with 1,525 
operational rooms. ADR and occupancy should be high in 
these hotels as these are located in deep demand markets 
like Mumbai, Pune, etc. ADR for these hotels should be 
typically 1.5x of the adult hotels in that year. Hotel RoCE for 
these hotels should be 2.0x of the adult hotels in that year.
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below 60% and ADR also started falling. The Company 
added 60% of current owned and leased rooms between 

rooms was higher than the development cost of rooms 
developed earlier and they were not able to deliver 
adequate returns due to bottom-of-cycle conditions.

Above chart represents hotel RoCE for owned and leased 

adult hotels that were operational in last top-of-cycle 
condition (i.e. 2003-2008) achieved very high hotel RoCEs 

Growth Outlook
Key levers to drive better results

the Company’s topline:

 Stabilization of rooms which opened in last 3 years 
(550 such rooms)

 Price increase in current operational inventory (14% 

 Operationalization of inventory under development 
– 1,525 rooms (Equivalent to 2,300 (1.5x) rooms in 
revenue potential and 3,050 (2.0x) rooms in EBITDAR 
potential)

Also, the Company will continue to maintain its cost 
leadership in industry. (LTH CAGR of operating cost increase 

2018.) These factors will drive strong top-line and bottom-
line growth.

Risk Management

The Company’s business model has a comprehensive and 
integrated risk management framework that comprises 
practices for proactive awareness, appraisal, and counter-
action.

We believe that a proactive approach in reporting, 
evaluating and resolving risks associated with the business 
is the key to sustained operations. It thereby helps in 
protecting shareholder value, improving governance 

Current 
Stable 

Inventory
=

2,727

Number 
of Rooms 
Stabilizing

=
550

Price Hike

Inventory 
Under 

Develop-
ment

=
1,525*

Triple Whammy

Assets:
• Stabilized inventory
• Higher pricing 
•  More high value 

inventory

Cost Leadership
LTH CAGR of operating 
cost increase per room 
has been 4% between 
FY13 and FY18.

Opened in 
last 3 years

13% ARR 
growth in 

FY17

Equivalent to 2,300 
(1.5x) rooms in 

revenue potential 
and 3,050 (2.0x) 

rooms in EBITDAR 
potential
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Keys Risks Mitigation
The cyclical downturn in the 
country’s economic growth may 
lead to a slowdown in business.

Lemon Tree operates in the mid-priced hotel sector which is primarily driven by 

low debt-equity ratio. 
Also, it has built a strong brand name, which is synonymous with quality and trust. 
This helps the Company by lowering the impact of the slowdown on demand 
sentiments. It has maintained high occupancy levels as compared to its peers i.e. 

The interest rates on loans are 

on monetary policy followed by 
RBI.

Lemon Tree has always maintained a low debt-equity ratio and its credit rating 

rise in interest rates.
Hotel Industry is highly fragmented 
and has intense competition 
within geographic regions. This 
competition may impact the 
company’s market share.

Lemon Tree caters largely to the upper-midscale, midscale and economy 

it a dominant player in these segments. The Company has always been able to 

50% and 30% over industry average in upper-midscale, midscale and economy 
segments respectively.

Hotel business is capital-intensive 
and requires regular investment in 
upgradation.

Lemon Tree’s business model enables it to develop hotels quickly and at a low 
cost. The Company’s average development cost per room (excluding the cost of 

` 5.9 million, ` 5.0 million and ` 4.5 million in the upper-midscale, midscale and 
economy hotel segments, respectively. Industry average for same segments 
was ` 7.2 million, ` 5.6 million and ` 3.5 million as per HVS-India-2016 Hotel 
Development Cost Survey.

renovations. It only refresh as hotels regularly through soft refurbishment and 
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TO 
THE MEMBERS 
OF LEMON TREE HOTELS LIMITED
Your Directors have pleasure in presenting the Twenty Sixth Annual Report of the Company together with audited Financial 
Statements for the Financial Year ended March 31, 2018.

FINANCIAL RESULTS AND OPERATIONS

(` in Lakhs)

Particulars  Standalone Consolidated
As on  

March  31, 2018   
As on  

March 31, 2017
As on  

March 31, 2018
As on  

March 31, 2017 
Total Income 23,813.44 22,543.28 49,206.83 42,030.79

Finance Costs, Tax and 
Exceptional items

7,508.83 6,665.82 14,398.13 12,469.45

1,976.68 2,119.95 5,261.74 5,101.24
2,904.57 3,755.90 7,360.71 7,401.16
2,627.58 789.97 1,833.19

Current Tax 413.33 129.22 627.59 318.67
Deferred Tax 160.39

2,214.25 660.75 1,455.36

Income net of taxes
1.85 11.85 7.50

Total Comprehensive Income 2216.10 672.60 1,453.55

Interest
34.47 119.78

1419.08
Earning Per Equity Share of 
the face value of ` 10 each
Basic 0.28 0.08 0.18
Diluted 0.28 0.08 0.18

analysis report forming part of this Annual Report.

INITIAL PUBLIC OFFER AND LISTING OF SHARES 

shares of face value of `

SCHEME OF AMALGMATION

BOARD’S REPORT
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the Appointed date i.e. April 01, 2017.

Pursuant to Scheme, the Company has made the allotment 
of 56,511,722 equity shares to the shareholders of the 
Transferor Companies and equivalent shareholding held 

cancelled.  Accordingly, there is no increase in the paid up 
share capital of the Company pursuant to this Scheme.

CHANGE IN CAPITAL STRUCTURE 
Increase in Authorised Share Capital
Pursuant to Scheme of Amalgamation, the Authorised Share 
Capital of the Company increased from  ̀  
divided into 99,85,50,000  equity shares of face value of  
`
Preference Share of ` ` 10,02,89,00,000 
divided into 1,00,14,40,000 Equity Shares of ` 10 each and 

` 100 each. 

Increase in the Paid-up Share Capital

Paid up Share Capital of the Company was increased to  
`
of face value of ̀
equity shares, out of which 23,18,370 equity shares have 

OPERATIONAL HOTELS AND UPCOMING PROJECTS

The details of operational hotels and upcoming projects 

AWARDS AND RECOGNITION 
During the year under review, the Company has received 
following key awards and recognition as detailed herein 

 Winner of FT ArcelorMittal Boldness in Business Award 

 Ranked 12th

Great Place to Work Institute 
 Ranked 4th

Place to Work Institute, India

great place of work;

BOARD OF DIRECTORS & KEY MANAGERIAL  
PERSONNEL (KMP’S)

S . 
No.

Name of Directors/KMP’s Designation

1 Mr. Patanjali Govind  
Managing Director

2 Deputy Managing 
Director

3 Director
4  Director

5 Director
6 Mr. Gopal Sitaram Independent Director

7 Independent Director
8 Mr. Arvind Singhania Independent Director
9 Mr. Paramartha Saikia Independent Director
10 Independent Director
11 Mr. Pradeep Mathur Independent Director
12 Mr. Aditya Madhav  Director

13
14 Group Company  

GM Legal

CHANGES IN BOARD OF DIRECTORS/KMPs
Appointments
During the Financial Year under review, Mr. Patanjali Govind 

Director for a period of 5 years commencing from April 

August 8, 2017.

Further, during the Financial Year under review, Mr. Gopal 

Director of the Company for a period of 5 Years w.e.f. 

Meeting held on August 8, 2017.

Further, during the Financial Year under review, Mr. Willem 

appointed as a Director in the Annual General Meeting held 

Furthermore, during the Financial Year under review, 
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Singhania, Mr. Paramartha Saikia, Mr. Pradeep Gupta and 

an Independent Director of the Company.

of the Company in compliance with the requirement of 

In accordance with the Act and the Articles of Association 

Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

Resignations/Retirement/Cessation
During the Financial Year under review, the following 

April 1, 2017;

 Mr. Sachin Doshi w.e.f August 1, 2017; and
 Mr. Pradeep Gupta, Independent Director w.e.f. 

The Board wishes to place on record their sincere 

directors during their tenure on the Board. 

DECLARATION BY INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS
All the Independent Directors has given necessary 

meet the criteria of independence as laid down under 

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
As on March 31, 2018, your Board has following mandatory 

 Audit Committee;                 
 
 
 

The details of the compositions, meetings held during the 

Corporate Governance Report attached as ‘Annexure-4’ to 
this Report.

Committee, Share Allotment Committee, Finance 

Committee and the details of the compositions, meetings 

given in ‘Annexure-1’ to this Report.

shall exercise all the powers of Share Transfer Committee, 
as it is empowered to act in accordance with its terms of 
reference which interalia includes redressing Investor 

of shares etc. 

BOARD MEETINGS HELD DURING THE YEAR
During the Financial Year under review,  your Board met 7 

is provided in the Corporate Governance Report attached 
as ‘Annexure-4’ to this Report.

ANNUAL BOARD EVALUATION  
Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, the Board of 
Directors has carried out an annual evaluation of its own 
performance including its committees. The performance 

as strategy, performance management, risk management, 

talent management.

The evaluation of all the Directors and the Board as a 

the evaluation questionnaire and discussion of the Board, 
the performance of the Board and its committees and 

POLICIES UNDER COMPANIES ACT, 2013

CODE OF CONDUCT AND VIGIL MECHANISM/WHISTLE 
BLOWER POLICY
The Company has in place a mechanism for employees 
for reporting genuine concerns from reprisal and 
victimization. The Company has a Code of Conduct and 

www.lemontreehotels.com.
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RISK MANAGEMENT POLICY
The Company has in place Risk Management Policy 
formulated in accordance with the provisions of Section 

www.
lemontreehotels.com
policy during the Financial Year under review. 

of elements of risk which are associated with the 

revenue and regulations and appropriate measures 
are taken, wherever required, to mitigate such risks 

The Statutory Auditors and the Internal Auditors report 
to the Audit Committee during their audit and highlight 

suggest the appropriate measures, in consultation with 

adherence to the procedures and manual which may 
increase the risk of frauds in the organization. 

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION POLICY

Policy which lays down the criteria for appointment, 
evaluation of performance of Directors and remuneration 

Management Personnel and other employees and there 

‘Annexure-2’ to this Report.

During the year under review, the Company has taken 

of the policy.   

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY  (“CSR”)
The Company has in place CSR policy, formulated in terms 

www.lemontreehotels.
com.

In terms of the CSR policy, the Company plans to undertake 

in Schedule VII of the Act as amended from time to time.  

calculated in terms of Section 198 of the Act, the Company 
was not required to spend on the CSR activities mentioned 
in the Schedule VII to the Act during the Financial Year 
under review. 

SUBSIDIARY, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURE 
COMPANIES
During the Financial Year under review, your Company 

Direct Subsidiary Companies

Indirect Subsidiary Companies

Ltd. and Valerian Management Services Pvt. Ltd.

Our Associate Companies
Further, during the Financial Year under review, two 

Mind Leaders Learning India Pvt. Ltd and Pelican Facilities 
Management Pvt. Ltd.

statement is annexed as ‘Annexure-3’ to this Report.

In terms of provisions of Section 136 of the Act, separate 

www.lemontreehotels.

up to the date of ensuing Annual General Meeting.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS REPORT
The management discussion and analysis report on 

and forms part of this Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Your company has adopted good governance practices and 
committed to maintain high standards of the Corporate 
ethics, professionalism and transparency. The Company has 
adopted polices in line with the governance requirements 
including policy on Related Party Transactions, policy 

www.
lemontreehotels.com.

the SEBI Listing Regulations, a seperate report on Corporate 

Auditors of the Company regarding compliance of conditions 
of Corporate Governance as stipulated under the SEBI Listing 
Regulations forms part of this Report as ‘Annexure-4’.

DEPOSITS

as such, no amount on account of principal or interest 

Balance Sheet.

BORROWINGS FROM BANKS/ FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

` 32,104.51 Lakhs in 
the previous year to ` 31,879.93 Lakhs in the current year. 

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION SCHEME 
During the year under review, the Company has an 

Meeting held on August 21, 2017.

Statutory Auditors of the Company that the scheme has 

During the Financial Year under review, 23,18,370 options 

Company. Further, during the Financial Year under review, 

4,87,000 fresh options to the employees of the Company 

.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS, KEY MANAGERIAL 
PERSONNEL AND PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES 
The statement including the details of employees as 

‘Annexure-5’ to this Report.

Disclosures pertaining to the remuneration and other 

provided in ‘Annexure-6’, to this Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

with proper explanation relating to material 
departures;

consultation with Statutory Auditors and applied 
them consistently and made judgments and 

company at the end of the Financial Year March 31, 

the Financial Year;

maintenance of adequate accounting records in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 for safeguarding the assets of the 
Company and for preventing and detecting frauds 
and other irregularities;

laws and that such systems were adequate and 

AUDITORS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT:
Statutory Auditors

Auditors of the Company in the Annual General Meeting 

conclusion of 6th consecutive Annual General Meeting 
of the Company. Pursuant to the amendment in Section 

appointment of Statutory Auditors at every Annual General 
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Standalone Financial Statements of the Company and 
the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company 

ended March 31, 2018 forms part of this Annual Report. 

Secretarial Auditor
The Board of Directors of the Company has appointed 

Secretaries, to conduct the Secretarial Audit for the 
Financial Year under review in accordance with Section 204 

report, which is annexed as ‘Annexure-7’ to this Report. 

SIGNIFICANT AND MATERIAL ORDERS

operations of the Company or its going concern status.

PARTICULARS OF LOANS, GUARANTEES OR INVESTMENTS 
UNDER SECTION 186

of the Schedule VI to the Act and is exempted from the 
compliance for loans made, guarantees given and security 

the details of loans, guarantees and investments made 

Statements.

PARTICULARS OF CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS WITH 
RELATED PARTIES REFERRED TO IN SECTION 188
In line with the requirements of the Act and the SEBI Listing 
Regulations, your Company has formulated a policy on 

www.lemontreehotels.com. The Policy intends 
to ensure that proper reporting, approval and disclosure 

the Company and Related Parties.

The particulars of contracts or arrangements with related 

Annexure-8’ to this 
Report. Further, you may refer to Related Party transactions 

EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

extract of the Annual Return in form MGT 9 is annexed as 
‘Annexure-9’ to this Report.

MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS AFFECTING 
THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 

Company to which the Financial Statements relate and the 
date of this Report.

PARTICULARS REGARDING CONSERVATION OF ENERGY 
ETC. UNDER SECTION 134(3)(m) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 
2013 AND RULES MADE THEREIN

taken during the year under review for conservation of 

A.  Conservation of Energy:

processes for Energy and Water preservation, waste 
management disposal, measures to control water, noise 

hotels are designed and constructed to qualify for the 
L.E.E.D Gold Standard.

Further we take the following steps for energy conservation 

compared to conventional AC systems.

from washroom exhausts.

 Introducing chilled water reset through Building 

domestic water.

requirements.

unoccupied rooms

Energy and reduces noise

and Ventilation Fans Conserves Energy

motors for water supply ensures constant pressure 
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room comfort and conserves energy.

 We are also using Solar Photovoltaic systems at our 

Energy requirement.

 We are using AAC Blocks for our Buildings which are 

actions.

Water Conservation

we are using Dual Flushing Units.

 We are using special Species of Plants which need less 
water.

resources.

Waste Management
 Sewage Treatment prevents pollution – We are recycling 

Sewage Waste Water after Treatment. We are using 

Cleaning  requirements. 

Noise Pollution Management

 We are using Environmental Seals to prevents entry of 

Interiors

Environment Friendly

 Water Glasses inverted and placed on a cork surface, 

Plastic Pens

B.  Technology Absorption, Research & Development 
(R&D):
Technology absorption:
The Company is in the service industry and operates 

various new technologies like Green Building, rain 

treatment plants.

Research & Development:

engaging into such activities. As such, there is nothing 
to report under this section.

C.  Foreign exchange earnings and outgo:
The information regarding Foreign Exchange earnings 

(` in Lakhs)
S. 
No.

Particulars Year Ended
March 31, 

2018

Year Ended
March 31, 

2017
1. Earning in Foreign 

Currency
2085.99 1,838.03

2.
Currency

Goods Imported on 

Advertisement and 

 
 

333.13

 
 

24.27
 
 

313.15

DIVIDEND ON EQUITY SHARES
Your Directors do not propose any dividend on the shares of 
the Company for the Financial Year ended on March 31, 2018. 

TRANSFER TO RESERVES

review.
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ADEQUACY OF INTERNAL CONTROLS 

of its operations. The Statutory and the Internal Auditors 
routinely conduct system checks and give their report after 

statements, its compliance with operating systems, 
accounting procedures and policies in the Company. Based 
on the report of Internal Audit, the departments undertake 

and follow up actions thereon are reported to the Audit 
Committee as well and further corrective action taken as 

the auditors.

DISCLOSURE UNDER THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF 
WOMEN AT WORKPLACE (PREVENTION, PROHIBITION 
AND REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013

GREEN INITIATIVE
Pursuant to Section 101 and 136 of the Act read with 

statements and other communications in electronic form. 
Your Company is sending the Annual Report including 

for the Financial Year 2018 in the electronic mode to the 
shareholders who have registered their email ids with the 

Those holding shares in demat form can register their 

who hold shares in physical form are requested to register 

APPRECIATION
Your Directors place on record their appreciation for 

Bankers, Government Agencies, Customers, Suppliers, 
Shareholders, Employees and other statutory authorities, 

the Company.   

For & On behalf of the Board of Directors of 
                                                       Lemon Tree Hotels Limited
                                                                    

 Patanjali Govind Keswani
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ANNEXURE(S) TO THE BOARD’S REPORT 
I)  FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Name of the Member Designation No. of
Meetings
Attended

Mr. Patanjali Govind 2

5

6

II) SHARE ALLOTMENT COMMITTEE MEETINGS

Name of the Member Designation No. of
Meetings
Attended

3

Mr. Patanjali Govind 3

0

III) SHARE TRANSFER COMMITTEE MEETINGS

2018 and March 16, 2018.

Name of the Member Designation No. of
Meetings
Attended

5

Mr. Patanjali Govind 5

0

IV)  IPO COMMITTEE MEETINGS

23, 2018.

Name of the Member Designation No. of
Meetings
Attended

Mr. Patanjali Govind 4

Mr. Gopal Sitaram 2

4

V)  GENERAL MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE MEETINGS

2018, March 13, 2018 and March 16, 2018.

Name of the Member Designation No. of
Meetings
Attended

Mr. Patanjali Govind 8

8

VI)  STAKEHOLDER’S RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE 
MEETING

Name of the Members Designation

ANNEXURE-1
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ANNEXURE - 2

NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION POLICY

1. INTRODUCTION
In terms of Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 read 

2014 has formulated this policy on nomination and 

senior management personnel and other employees 

the Company in its meeting on 19.02.2015.  

2. POLICY OBJECTIVE

for appointment, removal, evaluation of performance 

Managerial Personnel, Senior Management Personnel 
and other employees.

3. DEFINITIONS

the directors of the Company and includes the 
committees of the Board;

appointed in terms of provisions of the Act; 

Committee of the Company as constituted or 

2014, and such other rules and provisions as 

shall mean employees of the company who are 

 Unless the context otherwise requires, words 
and expressions used in this policy and not 

amended from time to time shall have the meaning 
respectively assigned to them therein.

4. APPLICABILITY 

Independent 

5. GENERAL

Part-A

Scope of Policy; 

Part-B Covers the appointment and nomination of 
Directors; and 

Part-C
Managerial Personnel and other employees.

PART-A

6. SCOPE

Managerial and Senior Management Personnel,  
recommend to Board their appointment and 
removal;

Senior Management Personnel and to provide 

performance, dedication and achievement relating 
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for remuneration prevailing in similar companies 
in the industry; 

PART-B

7. APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

expertise and experience of the person for 
appointment as Directors, or Senior Management 

appointment.

expertise and experience for the position he 

section 149 of the Companies Act, 2013, read with 
schedule IV and rules there under.

d. The Company shall not appoint or continue the 

attained the age of seventy years. Provided that 
the appointment of a person who has attained 

annexed to the notice for such motion indicating 

8. TERM/TENURE
a. MD/ WTD/ Manager 

the Memorandum and Articles of Association of 

b. Independent Director 

the Board of the Company with the approval of 

Provided that an Independent Director shall not, 

capacity, either directly or indirectly. 

9. DISQUALIFICATIONS FOR APPOINTMENT/RE-
APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS

appointment as a director in terms of Section 164 

company. 

10. EVALUATION

every Director and a statement indicating the manner 

in the Board Report.

11. REMOVAL

the Act.  

12. RETIREMENT

The Board will have the discretion to retain the 

PART – C

13. MATTERS RELATING TO THE REMUNERATION & 
PERQUISITES

and motivate directors of the quality required 
to run the company successfully;
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performance is clear and meets appropriate 

managerial personnel and other employees 

company and its goals;

Directors and Independent Directors and 

of the Company and Central Government, wherever 

the Act. 

Secretary and any other employees for indemnifying 

treated as part of the remuneration. 

d. Determination of remuneration and increments 

policies of the Company. 

14. REMUNERATION TO MD/WTD/MANAGER 
a. Remuneration 

the other with the approval of the Shareholders 
of the Company on the recommendation of 

shareholders and Central Government, wherever 
required in terms of the provisions of the Act. 

 If, in any Financial Year, the Company has no 

comply with such provisions, then with the previous 
approval of the Central Government. 

c. Provisions for excess remuneration 

the Act or without the prior sanction of the Central 

such sums to the Company and until such sum is 
refunded, hold it in trust for the Company. The 
Company shall not waive recovery of such sum 

Government.

15. REMUNERATION TO NON-EXECUTIVE/INDEPENDENT 
DIRECTOR
a. Sitting Fees 

for attending meetings of the Board or Committees 

the Board of Directors of the Company. The Company 

the Board or Committee meetings. 

to the Board approvals in terms of the provisions of 

manner referred to in section 198 of Act.

c. Stock Options 
Pursuant to the provisions of the Act, an Independent 

options in terms of the Company Employees Stock 

16. REMUNERATION TO KMP, SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
PERSONNEL AND OTHER EMPLOYEES

remuneration, salary advance and loans etc. as per 
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proposed increments in any Financial Year. The 

any, on the process for giving increments and 

for the Board. Any departure from the Policy shall 

meeting minutes. 

case any of the relevant regulations require that 

17. DISSEMINATION

therein.

18. MISCELLANEOUS

when it deems necessary.

implementation of this Policy, wherever it thinks 
necessary.

consistent with the provisions laid down under 
this Policy, then such change shall prevail upon the 
provisions hereunder and this Policy shall stand 

laid down under such statutory change to the Act 

ensure that such amendment is disseminated on 
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PART “B” : ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Sl. No. 1 2
Name of the Associate/Joint Ventures Mind Leaders Learning India 

Private Limited
Pelican Facilities Manage-
ment Private Limited

1 Last audited Balance Sheet Date 31.03.2017

2
Venture was associated or acquired

06.06.2017 21.06.2017

3 3,40,000

Amount of investment in Associate ` 3.40 Lakhs

3,40,000

4 Due to percentage of shareholding
our associate Mind Leaders 
Learning India Pvt Limited

5
not consolidated

6 ` 62.42 Lakhs

7 ` 157.8 Lakhs

Considered in consolidation ` 57.50 Lakhs

For and on behalf of Board of Directors of Lemon Tree Hotels Limited

 Patanjali Govind Keswani
 

  

 Kapil Sharma Nikhil Sethi
 

Cont...  ANNEXURE - 3 
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ANNEXURE - 4 

INTRODUCTION

practice. Though the Company got listed on April 9, 2018, 
as a prudent good Corporate Governance practices, it has 
prepared this report in compliance, with Regulation 34 

COMPANY’S PHILOSOPHY ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

revolved around fair and transparent governance and 
disclosure practices in line with the principles of Good 

principles of concerns, commitment, Ethics, Excellence and 
learning in all its acts and relationships with stakeholders, 
clients, associates and Community at Large. The Company 

process and strives to improve the Corporate Governance 

and together with the management they are committed 
to uphold the principles of excellence across all activities. 
The Company is compliant with the latest provisions of 

from time to time.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
The Company is managed and controlled through a 

of which are Independent Directors including one Women 

Sr. Category

1
Managing Director

2
Director  

3 Deputy Managing 
Director

4
Director

Sr. Category

5
Director

6
Director

7
Independent 
Director

8 Mr. Arvind Singhania
Independent 
Director

9 Mr. Pradeep Mathur
Independent 
Director

10
Independent 
Director

11 Mr. Paramartha Saikia
Independent 
Director

12
Independent 
Director

BOARD MEETINGS 

During the year, the Board of the Company met 7 times on 

was less than four months. Meetings are usually held 

The agenda papers and detailed notes are circulated to 
the Board well in advance of every meeting, where it is 

in special circumstances, additional items on the agenda 
are taken up at the meeting. The conduct of the Board 

Video conferencing facilities are used, as and when required, 
to facilitate directors to participate in the meetings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD AND DIRECTORSHIPS/COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

Name of the 
Director

Category

No. of 
other 

Director-
ships(1)

No. of Board Level Com-
mittee Memberships / 

Chairmanships in other 
Indian Public Companies

Attendance Particulars

Member
(2)

Chairman
(2)

No. of Board Meetings
Attendance at 
last AGM

Held Attended Attended
Mr. Patanjali 

^

Managing Director

6 3 1 7 7 Y

Mr. Rattan 
Managing Director

3 1 0 7 5 Y

Mr. Aditya Madhav 
Executive Director

1 0 0 7 3

Director
10 0 0 7 3

Director
3 2 0 7 7

Mr. Willem 

#

Director
1 0 0 7 5

Guha## Independent 
Director

3 2 0 7 5

Mr. Arvind 
Singhania## Independent 

Director

3 1 0 7 3 Y

Mr. Pradeep 
Mathur### Independent 

Director

2 0 0 7 3

Mr. Gopal Sitaram 
^^ Independent 

Director

4 3 3 7 4 Y

Mr. Paramartha 
Saikia## Independent 

Director

8 2 0 7 5 Y

Ms. Freyan 
## Independent 

Director

2 2 1 7 5

Mr. Pradeep 
Gupta* Independent 

Director

7 2 Y

Mr. Sachin Doshi**

Director
***

Director

Duggal**** Independent 
Director

Meeting of the Company held on August 8, 2017.

# Since he was appointed as an Additional Director of the Company w.e.f August 9, 2017 and regularised in the Annual 
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## Since they were appointed as an Additional Independent 

Meeting held on August 8, 2017

### Since he was appointed as an Additional Independent 

in the Extra ordinary General Meeting of the Company held 
on August 8, 2017.

* Resigned from the Board of Directors of the Company 

** Resigned from the Board of Directors of the Company 
w.e.f August 1, 2017.

*** Resigned from the Board of Directors of the Company 
w.e.f May 31, 2017.

**** Resigned from the Board of Directors of the Company 
w.e.f April 1, 2017.

Notes:

does not include alternate directorships and 
directorships in foreign companies, companies 
registered under Section 8 of the Companies Act, 
2013 and Private Limited Companies.

Directorship positions in other companies as on 

or not, in which he is a Director.

Companies Act, 2013 and rules made thereunder.

Committees and Stakeholders Relationship 

considered.

Conferencing facilities, provided to the directors to 
facilitate participation in the meetings.

INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

Singhania, Mr. Paramartha Saikia, Mr. Pradeep Gupta and 

Directors in the capacity of Independent Directors of the 

as an Independent Directors w.e.f April 1, 2017 and 

Additional Director in the capacity of Independent Director 

Director in the ensuing Annual General Meeting for a term 

Terms and conditions of appointment of Independent 

Company.

Director who is a Whole Time Director in any other 
Company serves as Independent Director in more than 3 

INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS MEETING

held on May 25, 2018 without the presence of Executive 

Company was present in the meeting. 

The Independent Directors in the said meeting had, 
inter-alia:

directors and the Board as a whole;

ii. reviewed  the performance of the Chairperson 
of the Company, taking into account the views of 

iii.  assessed the quality, quantity and timeliness 

management and the Board that is necessary for 

their duties.

The Company does not have any pecuniary relationship 

for payment of sitting fees to Independent Director for 

attending the meetings of any Committee.

Familiarisation Programme for Independent Directors
Your Company follows a structured orientation and 
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Sensitive Information and various other policies are also 
shared with them, from time to time. Further, during the 
year, presentations were also made from time to time at 

the Board and its committee meetings, on regular intervals, 

The details of the familiarisation programme for the 

Company at 

Directors.pdf.

SHARES AND CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS HELD BY NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Name of the Director Designation No. of Shares Held 
(face value of ` 10 each)

657,270

Mr. Pradeep Mathur1 353,454

Mr. Paramartha Saikia2 153,162

Committee of Board of Directors

1. Audit Committee

The Composition of all the committees meets the 

The details of the role and composition of Committees of 

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Brief Terms of reference:
The terms of reference of the Audit Committee satisfy the 
requirement of Section 177 of the Act read with Companies 

for overseeing the quality and integrity of the accounting, 
auditing and reporting practices of the Company and its 
compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements. 

The Audit Committee of the Company, inter alia, performs 

appointment, terms of appointment and, if required, 
the replacement or removal of the statutory auditor 

134 of the Companies Act 2013;
 Changes, if any, in accounting policies and practices 

and reasons for the same;

 Compliance with listing and other legal requirements 

 Disclosure of any related party transactions; and
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for approval.

statement of funds utilized for purposes other than 

rights issue, and making appropriate recommendations 
to the Board to take up steps in this matter. 

transactions of the Company with related parties 

wherever it is necessary.

management systems.

statutory and internal auditors, adequacy of the 
internal control systems.

if any, including the structure of the internal audit 

heading the department, reporting structure coverage 
and frequency of internal audit.

suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal 
control systems of a material nature and reporting the 

concern.

appointment and removal of the external auditor, 

other services. 

mechanism.

Company and the chairman of audit committee shall 
directly hear grievances of victimization of employees 
and directors, who use vigil mechanism to report 
genuine concerns in appropriate and exceptional 
cases.

condition and results of operations;

management;

 internal audit reports relating to internal control 
weaknesses; 

 the appointment, removal and terms of remuneration 

Regulations.

Regulations.

Composition, Meetings and attendance of the Audit 
Committee
The Audit Committee, during the year was reconstituted 

Section 177 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 18 

During the year under review, the Audit Committee met four 
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Name of the Members Status Category No. of Meetings 
attended

Chairman 
Independent

2

Independent
3

4

Nomination & Remuneration Committee

Committee satisfy the requirement of Section 178 of the Act 

2014. The Committee also plays the role of Compensation 

of a director and recommending to the Board a policy 
relating to the remuneration of the directors, key 
managerial personnel and other employees.

of independent directors and the Board.

management in accordance with the criteria laid down, 
and recommending to the Board their appointment 
and removal. 

of performance evaluation of independent directors. 

management in accordance with the criteria laid down, 

Composition, Meetings and attendance of the 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee

Section 178 of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 19 

Name of the Members Status Category No. of Meetings 
attended

Mr. Pradeep Mathur1 Chairman 1
1
3

Executive Chairman and Managing Director 3
Mr. Pradeep Gupta2 Chairman 1

 
1. 

2.

Performance Evaluation Criteria for Independent 
Directors

Annual Performance evaluation of its directors individually 
including the Chairman and the Board evaluated the 
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The performance evaluation of the Independent Directors 

Board, the Directors have expressed their satisfaction on 

the performance of the Independent Directors.

Remuneration of Directors

the year ended March 31, 2018

Name of the 
Director^

Category Salary 
including 

Perquisites & 
PF^^  
(in `)

Sitting  
Fees**
(in `)

Tenure  
upto

Notice 
Period

Total
(in `)

Mr. Patanjali 

Managing Director

26,834,394 31.03.2023 26,834,394

Mr. Rattan 
^^^ Managing Director

31.12.2019 1 month

Mr. Aditya 
Director

Director

Director

Director

Mr. Gopal Sitaram 
Independent 
Director

80,000 17.09.2022 80,000

Guha# Independent 
Director

1,00,000 14.06.2022 1,00,000

Ms. Freyan 
Independent 
Director

1,00,000 14.06.2022 1,00,000

Mr. Arvind 
Singhania# Independent 

Director

60,000 14.06.2022 60,000

Mr. Paramartha 
Saikia# Independent 

Director

1,00,000 14.06.2022 1,00,000

Mr. Pradeep 
Gupta* Independent 

Director

40,000 40,000

Mr. Pradeep 
Mathur## Independent 

Director

60,000 04.12.2022 60,000

`

exercised 20,000 stock options.
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Criteria for making payments to Non-Executive 
Directors including all pecuniary relationship or 
transactions of Non-Executive Directors
The Independent Directors are not paid any remuneration 
other than sitting fees for attending the meetings of the 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY COMMITTEE

was constitute to oversee the CSR Policy and recommend 

the activities mentioned in the Schedule VII of the Act.

in Schedule VII of the Companies Act 2013 and make 

Board.

the company from time to time.

other regulatory authority.

Composition, Meetings and attendance of the 
Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

provisions of Section 135 of the Companies Act, 2013.

as Company was not required to hold any meeting as 

during the period under review.

Name of the Members Status Category
Chairman 

Mr. Pradeep Mathur1

1

STAKEHOLDERS’ RELATIONSHIP COMMITTEE 

constituted in terms of Section 178 of the Act and 

transmission of securities etc.

The terms of reference of the Stakeholders Relationship 

of annual reports, etc. and assisting with quarterly 
reporting of such complaints.

complying with all the requirements related to shares, 

transfer agents of our Company and to recommend 
measures for overall improvement in the quality of 
investor services.

Composition, Meetings and attendance of the 
Stakeholder’s Relationship Committee
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Name of the Members Status Category
Chairman 

1

1

NAME AND DESIGNATION OF COMPLIANCE OFFICER  : 

INVESTOR GRIEVANCES/COMPLAINTS
During the Financial Year ended March 31, 2018, the Company has not received any complaint from the investors.

GENERAL BODY MEETING

Financial Year Date Time Venue Special 
Resolutions Passed

29.09.2017 03.30 p.m Yes

30.09.2016 03.00 p.m Yes

30.07.2015 04.30 p.m Yes

Annual General Meeting.

MEANS OF COMMUNICATION

with corporate governance, policies, contact information 

including all other mandatory disclosures are promptly and 

www.lemontreehotels.com

PROHIBITION OF INSIDER TRADING 
To comply with the provisions of Regulation 9 of the 

Company at www.lemontreehotels.com

GENERAL SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION
A. ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

Day & Date Friday, August 3, 2018

Venue

Time 3.00 PM

purpose of remote  

B. Financial Year
The Financial Year of the Company starts from 1st day 
of April and ends on 31st day of March of next year. 

Financial Calendar 2019 (tentative)
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Audited Annual Results for the year ending on March 31, 

C. DIVIDEND PAYMENT DATE
The Directors of the company have not recommended 

D. LISTING ON STOCK EXCHANGE AND DATE
The equity shares of the Company got listed on stock 

Company.

E. STOCK CODE

BSE LIMITED 541233

F. STOCK MARKET DATA & STOCK PERFORMANCE
Since the Company got listed on April 9, 2018, the 
details of stock market data and stock exchange for 

G.  SHARE TRANSFER AGENT
The Company registers share transfers through its 

Karvy Computershare Pvt. Ltd.

H. SHARE TRANSFER SYSTEM
To expedite the transfer of shares in physical form, 

Relationship Committee of the Board of Directors and 

Relationship Committee within a period of 15 days 

I. DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDING:

Number of Equity Shares Held Number of 
shareholders

% of total 
shareholders

Number of shares held % Shareholding

Upto 500
188 29.84 125,410 0.02

65 10.32 91,819 0.01
62 9.84 166,244 0.02
16 2.54 56,800 0.01
23 3.65 101,525 0.01
43 6.83 320,546 0.04

233 36.98 785,550,339 99.89
TOTAL 630 100.00 786,412,683 100.00

J. CATEGORY WISE SHAREHOLDING

Sl. No Description Total no of Equity Shares held as on March 31, 2018 %age
1. Promoters Group Shareholding

Individual 31,116,764 3.96
Bodies Corporate 213,189,039 27.11
Total Promoter Group shareholding 244,305,803 31.07

2.
98,146,184 12.48
59,191,794 7.53

Trusts 19,432 0.00
823,200 0.10

Foreign Bodies Corporate 38,39,26,270 48.82
Total Public Shareholding 542,106,880 68.93
Grand Total 786,412,683 100.00
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K. DEMATERIALIZATION OF SHARES

were held in dematerialised form. 

L. OUTSTANDING CONVERTIBLE INSTRUMENTS

Instruments having any impact on the equity except 
exercising of Employee stock options already granted 
to the employees of the Company.

M. COMMODITY PRICE RISK OR FOREIGN EXCHANGE 
RISK AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES
The Company has not undertaken any forex or hedging 
transactions during the year under review.

N. HOTELS LOCATIONS

O. ADDRESS FOR CORRESPONDENCE
The investors may address their queries to the 

Mr. Nikhil Sethi

OTHER DISCLOSURES 
Related Party Transactions
The Company has formulated a policy on materiality 
of Related Party Transactions and dealing with Related 

All related party transactions including those transactions 

Related Party Disclosures as required under the SEBI 

Statements.

Statutory Compliances/Penalty
There are no penalties, strictures imposed on the Company 

authority on any matter related to capital markets, during 

India Limited and BSE Limited on April 9, 2018

Vigil Mechanism and Whistle Blower Policy
With a view to adopt the highest ethical standards in the 

Policy in place for reporting the instances of conduct 
which are not in conformity with the policy. Directors, 
employees, vendors or any person having dealings with the 

is maintained of such reporting and it is ensured that the 

Compliance with Mandatory and Non-Mandatory 
Requirements under Chapter IV of SEBI (LODR) 
Regulations

the mandatory requirements under Chapter IV of SEBI 

disclosed as the company got listed on April 9, 2018.

the conditions of the Corporate Governance as stipulated 

Policy for Determining Material Subsidiaries and 
Dealing with Related Party Transactions
The Board has formulated a policy for determining 

Private Limited.

Scores
The Company has registered itself for SEBI Complaints 

complaints redress system with 24 x 7 access. It allows 
online lodging of complaints at anytime from anywhere. 
An automated email acknowledging the receipt of the 
complaint and allotting a unique complaint registration 

Equity Shares in the Suspense Account
The Company has in accordance with the procedure laid 
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got listed on April 9, 2018.

Reconciliation of Share Capital Audit
The audit of reconciliation of share capital audit was not 

2018 as the Company got listed on April 9, 2018.

Information on Deviation from Accounting Standards, 
if any 
The Company has adopted Indian Accounting Standards 

with existing accounting standards.  

Code of Conduct 
The Board of Directors of the Company has adopted the 
Code of Conduct for Directors and Senior Management 

in the said Code as laid down in the Companies Act, 2013.  
www.

lemontreehotels.com 

that they have complied with the Code of Conduct for Directors and Senior Management Personnel in respect of the 

For Lemon Tree Hotels Limited

Patanjali Govind Keswani
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CERTIFICATE

To 

Lemon Tree Hotels Limited

of the Company.

Company has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated under regulations 17 to 27 and clauses 

For Sanjay Grover & Associates
Company Secretaries

Sanjay Grover
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CERTIFICATION BY MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF THE 
COMPANY PURSUANT TO REGULATION 17(8) OF SECURITIES EXCHANGE BOARD OF 

INDIA (LISTING OBLIGATIONS AND DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS) REGULATIONS, 2015

such internal controls, if any, of which we are aware and the steps we have taken or propose to take to rectify these 

reporting.

Kapil Sharma Patanjali Govind Keswani
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ANNEXURE - 5 
REMUNERATION TO EMPLOYEES 

Sr. No. Description EMPLOYEES
Name of the Employee Mr. Ajai Kumar

(8)
Mr. Rajiv Tyagi

(9)
Ms. Aradhana Lal

(10)

Designation of the employee Chief Information 

`

contractual or not

the employee Madan Mohan Malaviya 
Engineering College, 
Gorakhpur, UP and MBA 
from Sikkim Manipal 

rich experience in his 

graduate from Delhi 
University and have over 
33 years of experience 

MBA from IIM 

has over 25 years of 
experience in Sales, 
Marketing, Corporate 
Communication and 

Date of commencement of 
employment with company

15.10.2010 15.07.2006 01.06.2003

The age of such employee 50 years 57 years 49 years

the Company
Cargo Terminal 
Management Pvt. Ltd. 

Area Credit Manager, 

The percentage of equity shares 

Company within the meaning of 

Whether any such employee 
is a relative of any director or 
manager of the Company and if 
so, the name of such director or 
manager

Note(s):
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ANNEXURE - 6

Details pertaining to remuneration as required u/s 197(12) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 5(1) of the 
Companies (Appointment and remuneration of Managerial personnel) Rules, 2014
1. The ratio of the remuneration of each director to the median remuneration of the employees of the Company for 

Name Designation

Ratio of Remuneration 
of each Director to the 

median remuneration of 
employees

Percentage 
Increase in 

Remuneration

Chairman and Managing Director 134.099

2. The percentage increase in the median remuneration of employees in the Financial Year.

3. The number of permanent employees on the rolls of the Company.

4. Average percentile increase already made in the salaries of employees other than the managerial personnel 
in the last Financial Year and its comparison with the percentile increase in the managerial remuneration and 

remuneration.  

 Average percentile increase in salaries of employees other than the managerial personnel in the last Financial Year 

5.
Company.
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ANNEXURE - 7

SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT
For the Financial Year ended March 31, 2018

To,

Lemon Tree Hotels Limited

We have conducted the Secretarial Audit of the compliance 

company as on March 31, 2018. Secretarial Audit was 

compliances and expressing our opinion thereon.

We report that

is to express an opinion on these secretarial records 

Company.

and regulations and happening of events etc.

representatives during the conduct of Secretarial Audit, we 

the audit period covering the Financial Year ended on 

provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company 
has proper Board processes and compliance mechanism 

company for the Financial Year ended on March 31, 2018 

thereunder;

and regulations made thereunder to the extent of 

and External Commercial Borrowings;

clauses of the Secretarial Standard on Meetings of the 

Institute of Company Secretaries of India, with which the 
Company has generally complied with.

During the Audit Period under review, the Company has 
complied with the provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations 

 The Legal Metrology Act, 2009 and rules made 
thereunder;

 Food Safety and Standards Act, 2006 and rules made 
thereunder;

We have checked the compliance management system of 

adequacy of systems in place to ensure compliance of 
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system of the Company is satisfactory, which can further 

We further report that the Board of Directors of the 

Independent Directors. The changes in the Board of 
Directors that took place during the period under review 
were carried out in compliance with the provisions of the 
Act.

Adequate notice is given to all its directors to schedule the 
Board Meetings. Agenda and detailed notes on agenda are 
sent in advance of the meetings and a system exists for 

participation at the meeting.

Board decisions are carried out with unanimous consent, 

minutes.

We further report that systems and processes in 

strengthened commensurate with the size and operations 
of the Company to monitor and ensure compliance with 

We further report that during the audit period-

2017 approved the Scheme of Amalgamation 

appointed date i.e. April 01, 2017;

passed a Special resolution under Section 14 of 
the Act for the adoption of new set of Articles of 
Association of the Company;

passed a Special resolution under Section 181 of 

the welfare of its employees of any amounts the 
aggregate of which does not exceed `

ending March 31, 2018;

Shares at an issue price of ̀

Act read with rules made thereunder;

Meeting held on August 08, 2017 accorded their 
approval under the Act read with rules made 

Shares upto an aggregate of `

Stock Exchange of India Limited and BSE Limited 

For Sanjay Grover & Associates
Company Secretaries 

May 25, 2018  Partner
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 ANNEXURE - 9

EXTRACT OF ANNUAL RETURN

I REGISTRATION & OTHER DETAILS:
i L74899DL1992PLC049022
ii Registration Date 2nd June, 1992
iii Lemon Tree Hotels Limited
iv Public Limited Company/Company having share capital
v

contact details
Asset No. 6, Aerocity Hospitality District, New Delhi-110037 
Contact: 011-46050101

vi Whether listed company Unlisted Company till March 31, 2018.
The Company got listed on April 9, 2018

vii Karvy Computershare Private Limited, Karvy Selenium, Tower-B,
Plot No 31 & 32, Financial District,
Nanakramguda, Serilingampally Mandal,
Hyderabad-500032
T+91 040 67162222

II PRINCIPAL BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE COMPANY

SL No Name & Description of  main products/ 
services

NIC Code of the 
Product /service

% to total turnover 
of the company

1 55101
III PARTICULARS OF HOLDING , SUBSIDIARY & ASSOCIATE COMPANIES
Sl No Name of the 

Company
Address CIN/GLN HOLDING/

SUBSIDIARY/
ASSOCIATE

% OF 
SHARES HELD #

1
Private Limited

U55101DL2009PTC189339

2
Private Limited

U55101DL2002PTC118180

3
Private Limited

U55101DL2007PTC166044

4
Company Private 
Limited

U55101DL2007PTC158376

5
Private Limited

U55101DL2006PTC144533

6
Private Limited

U55101DL2007PTC158178

7

Limited

U85110DL2004PTC128937

8
Private Limited

U55101DL2006PTC144532

9 Sukhsagar 
Complexes Private 
Limited

U70101DL1993PTC172878

10
Company Private 
Limited

U55204DL2007PTC157848

11 Grey Fox Project 
Management 
Company Private 
Limited

U74140DL2012PTC238272

83

12 Valerian 
Management 
Services Private 
Limited

U20296DL2007PTC169518 Indirect 

13

Limited

U74140DL2007PTC169861

14 Manakin Resorts 
Private Limited

U55101DL2005PTC212230 Indirect 

15
Private Limited

U55101DL2003PTC207912

16
Private Limited

U45201DL2003PTC191326 Indirect 

17
Private Limited

U55204DL2007PTC166050 Indirect 

18
Resorts Limited

U65921DL1995PLC067686 Indirect 

19
Limited

U55101DL2009PTC192981 Indirect 

20
Private Limited

U55101DL2007PTC166020 Indirect 

21 Bandhav Resorts 
Private Limited

U55100DL2008PTC327179 Indirect 

22 Mind Leaders 
Learning India 
Private Limited

U80904DL2017PTC312452 Associate 
Company

23 Pelican Facilities 
Management 
Private Limited

U74140DL2009PTC195209 Indirect 
Associate 
Company
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V.  INDEBTEDNESS

`

Particulars Secured Loans
excluding deposits

Unsecured 
Loans

Deposits Total 
Indebtedness

Indebtedness at the beginning of the 
Financial Year

3,21,04,51,184 3,21,04,51,184

2,27,193 2,27,193
Total (i+ii+iii) 3,21,06,78,377 - - 3,21,06,78,377
Change in Indebtedness during the 
Financial Year
Additions 1,20,86,26,920 1,20,86,26,920
Reduction 1,23,10,85,920 1,23,10,85,920
Net Change
Indebtedness at the end of the 
Financial Year

3,18,79,92,184 3,18,79,92,184

Total (i+ii+iii) 3,18,79,92,184 - - 3,18,79,92,184

VI  REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL

A  Remuneration to Managing Director, Whole time director and/or Manager:

`

Sl. 
No Particulars of Remuneration Name of the MD/WTD/Manager Total Amount

Mr. Patanjali Govind 
Keswani

Mr. Rattan Keswani#

1. Gross salary
Salary as per provisions contained in 2,41,85,750 2,41,85,750

Tax Act, 1961
5,42,014 5,42,014

of the Income Tax Act, 1961
2 Stock option 700,000 700,000

3 Sweat Equity

4 Commission

 

 

5

Total (A) 2,47,27,564 700,000 2,54,27,564
Ceiling as per the Act## -  - -

the equity shares of the Company.

##  The Company was unlisted upto 31 March, 2018, therefore it can pay remuneration to its managerial personnel, in the 

sheetal.pawar
Highlight
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C. REMUNERATION TO KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL OTHER THAN MD/MANAGER/WTD

(Amount in `)

Sl. No. Particulars of Remuneration Key Managerial Personnel
1 Gross Salary CEO CFO CS Total

Salary as per provisions contained in section 71,17,537.00     23,81,167.00 94,98,704.00

Tax Act, 1961
44,259.00    39,600.00 83,859.00

the Income Tax Act, 1961
2
3 Sweat Equity 
4 Commission 
 
 others, specify 
5

Total  (c) # 71,61,796.00 24,20,767.00 95,82,563.00

the equity shares of the Company

VII. PENALTIES/PUNISHMENT/COMPOUNDING OF OFFENCES

Type Section of the 
Companies Act

Brief Description Details of Penal-
ty/Punishment/
Compounding 
fees imposed

Authority (RD/
NCLT/
Court)

Appeal made if 
any (give details)

A.  COMPANY
Penalty
Punishment
Compounding

B. DIRECTORS
Penalty
Punishment
Compounding

C. OTHER OFFICERS IN DEFAULT
Penalty
Punishment
Compounding

sheetal.pawar
Highlight

sheetal.pawar
Highlight

sheetal.pawar
Highlight
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To The Members of Lemon Tree Hotels Limited

Report on the Standalone Ind AS Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying standalone Ind AS 

Auditor’s Responsibility

Opinion

Other Matter

` 
`

`

93

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP 

Vijay Agarwal



ANNEXURE “A” TO THE INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

Report on the Internal Financial Controls Over Financial 
Reporting under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 
of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial 
Controls

Auditor’s Responsibility

date)

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial 
Reporting

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over 
Financial Reporting

Opinion
For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP 

Vijay Agarwal



ANNEXURE B TO THE INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Referred to in paragraph 2 under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report of even 
date)

would not apply to the Company as the Company is 

to us, the Company has not accepted any deposit 

97

Name of Statute Nature of 
Dues

Forum where Dispute is 
Pending

Period to which the 
Amount Relates

Amount unpaid (` 
in lacs)

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP 

Vijay Agarwal
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BALANCE SHEET 
as at March 31, 2018

Note As at March  
31, 2018

` in lakhs

As atMarch  
31, 2017

` in lakhs
ASSETS
Non-current assets

3

7

9
 127,493.07  126,606.83 

Current assets
10
11

12
 7,190.84  4,014.21 

Total Assets  134,683.91  130,621.04 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

13

Total Equity  96,111.17  92,723.12 
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

17
 27,494.75  26,821.06 

Current liabilities
18

19
 11,077.99  11,076.86 

Total Liabilities  38,572.74  37,897.92 
Total Equity and Liabilities  134,683.91  130,621.04 

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Vijay Agarwal Patanjali G. Keswani Kapil Sharma

Nikhil Sethi
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS
for the year ended March 31, 2018

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Vijay Agarwal Patanjali G. Keswani Kapil Sharma

Nikhil Sethi

Note Year ended  
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

Year ended  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs
20

21

Total Income (I)  23,813.44  22,543.28 
Expenses

22

23

 16,304.61  15,877.46 

27

 2,627.58  789.97 

29

 413.33  129.22 

 1.85  11.85 

28

28
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A. Equity Share Capital

Equity shares of INR 10 each issued, subscribed and fully paid No. of shares Amount 
` in lakhs

At April 1, 2016 778,041,131  77,804.11 
2,871,902

 300,000 
At March 31, 2017 781,213,033  78,121.30 

 2,318,370 

At March 31, 2018 786,393,251  78,639.33 

B. Other Equity
 For the year ended March 31, 2018

` in lakhs
Reserves and Surplus Items of OCI Total 

equityCapital 
redemption 

reserve

Securities 
premium

Share based 
payments 

reserve

General 
reserve

Surplus 
in the 

statement of 

Remeasurement 
gains /(losses) on 

plans

Balance at March 31, 2017  45.00  8,954.37  242.12  3,035.24  2,307.68  17.41 14,601.82 

Balance at March 31, 2018  45.00  9,602.16  248.26  3,035.24  4,521.93  19.26  17,471.85 

 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Vijay Agarwal Patanjali G. Keswani Kapil Sharma

Nikhil Sethi
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

For the period ended
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs 

For the year ended
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

A.

 2,627.58  789.97 

 7,279.60  6,263.75 

Cash Generated from Operations  5,032.75  7,404.53 

 5,098.10  7,185.47 

B.
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For the period ended
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs 

For the year ended
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

 (2,710.08)  (1,717.51)

C

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (A + B + C)  3.19  56.72 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  571.60  566.38 

Components of cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand 

Total cash and cash equivalents  571.60  566.38 

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Vijay Agarwal Patanjali G. Keswani Kapil Sharma

Nikhil Sethi
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

1. Corporate Information

2.1 Basis of preparation and Compliance with Ind AS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

cycle

(b) Foreign currencies

 Transactions and balances



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

(c) Fair value measurement

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

(d) Revenue recognition

(e) Taxes



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

107

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Fixed Assets Useful life considered

(g) Intangible assets
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

(h) Investment properties

(i) Borrowing costs

(j) Leases

109

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Company as a lessee

(k) Inventories
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

(m) Provisions

(n) Deferred Revenue

111

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

and 

(p) Financial instruments

 Financial assets
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

113

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Financial liabilities 



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

(s) Measurement of EBITDA

(t) Cash Flow Statement

(u) Recent accounting pronouncements 

 



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

3.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

4. Capital work-in-progress  

Particulars As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs
Hotel at Shimla

 756.92  587.23 
Hotel at Banjara Hills, Hyderabad

 203.63  -   
 203.63  -   

 756.92  587.23 

5. Investment property

Particulars Total
` in lakhs

Gross Carrying Amount

Additions 

As at March 31, 2017  258.89 
Additions

As at March 31, 2018  258.89 
Depreciation and Impairment
As at April 1, 2016

As at March 31, 2017  8.79 

As at March 31, 2018  13.18 
Net Block
As at March 31, 2018  245.71 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs
Rental income derived from investment property

indirect expenses
 14.53  13.43 

 10.14  9.04 

` `

Valuation technique
Sales comparable method
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

6. Intangible assets

Particulars Software Goodwill Total
Gross Carrying Amount
As at April 1, 2016
Additions

As at March 31, 2017  82.70  -    82.70 
Additions

As at March 31, 2018  111.93  2.63  114.56 
Amortisation and impairment
As at April 1, 2016

As at March 31, 2017  30.91  -    30.91 

As at March 31, 2018  59.90  -    59.90 

As at March 31, 2018  52.03  2.63  54.65 

Net book value As at
March 31, 2018

As at
March 31, 2017

Intangible assets

7. Financial assets

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs
(i) Investments
Investments at cost
Unquoted equity shares of subsidiary companies

`

`
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

`

`

Unquoted equity shares of associate companies

` 

Unquoted compulsory redeemable preference shares of subsidiary 

` 

` 

` 

` 

` 100 

` 

Deemed investment on account of interest free loan to subsidiaries
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs
Deemed investment in redeemable preference shares recognised at 

Others

` 

` 

 71,572.71  69,733.05 

Current
Non-Current
Total  71,572.71  69,733.05 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs
(ii) Loans

 1,615.50  1,557.44 

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

 1,393.24  1,252.69 

8.1 Deferred tax assets (net)

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

Deferred tax liability  3,979.09  3,624.70 

Deferred tax asset  3,979.09  3,624.70 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

34.61% 33.99%

Net  413.33  129.22 
 413.33  129.22 

8.2 Non-Current tax assets (net)

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

9.  Other non-current assets

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

Capital advances

Total  5,701.77  8,354.73 

10.  Inventories
 (valued at lower of cost and net realisable value)

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

 Total  199.52  202.96 

` `



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

11. Financial assets

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs
(i) Trade receivables

 2,063.87  1,456.71 

 2,079.82  1,472.33 
Impairment Allowance (allowance for bad and doubtful debts)

Total  2,063.87  1,456.71 

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs
(ii) Cash and cash equivalents
Balance with banks

Cash on hand

 571.60  566.38 

`

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs
(iii) Loans
Unsecured, considered good

 1,622.22  613.54 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

Unsecured, considered good

 311.42  11.42 

Others
 1.68  0.41 

 1,327.73  -   
 1,640.83  11.83 

12. Other current assets

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

 Total  1,092.80  1,162.79 

13. Share capital

Equity shares
No. of shares ` in lakhs

As at April 1, 2016

As at March 31, 2017
 2,890,000 

As at March 31, 2018

5% Redeemable Cumulative 
Preference Shares

No. of shares ` in lakhs
As at April 1, 2016

As at March 31, 2017

As at March 31, 2018



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Terms/rights attached to equity shares  

`

 Issued equity capital

` No. of shares ` in lakhs
As at April 1, 2016

 2,871,902 

 300,000 

As at March 31, 2017  781,213,033 

 2,318,370 

  Share capital   Shares held by  
ESOP trust 

 Share capital (net) 

 No. of shares  ` in lakhs  No. of 
shares 

 ` in lakhs  No. of 
shares 

 ` in lakhs 

As at April 1, 2016 778,102,163 77,810.22  61,032  6.10  778,041,131 77,804.11 
 2,871,902  2,871,902 

 300,000  300,000 

As at March 31, 2017 781,274,065 78,127.41  61,032  6.10  781,213,033 78,121.30 
 2,318,370  2,318,370 

As at March 31, 2018 786,412,683 78,641.27  19,432  1.94  786,393,251 78,639.32 

 Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company    

Name of the shareholder As at March 31, 2018 As at March 31, 2017

No. of 
shares

% held as at 
March 31, 2018

No. of shares % held as at 
March 31, 2017

Equity shares of ` 10 each fully paid up

 192,908,118 24.53%  192,908,118 

 207,375,759 26.37%

 78,748,368 10.01%

 118,730,914 15.10%
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Shares reserved for issue under options

note 33

  Aggregate number of bonus share issued, share issued for consideration other than cash and shares bought back 

 March 31, 2018  March 31, 2017 
 No. of shares  No. of shares 

 88,997,722 

14. Other equity

Securities premium ` in lakhs
As at April 1, 2016  8,699.91 

As at March 31, 2017  8,954.37 

As at March 31, 2018  9,602.16 

Retained Earnings ` in lakhs
As at April 1, 2016 1,652.49

As at March 31, 2017 2,325.09

As at March 31, 2018 4,541.19

General reserve ` in lakhs
As at April 1, 2016  3,035.24 

As at March 31, 2017  3,035.24 

As at March 31, 2018  3,035.24 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

Share-based payments ` in lakhs
As at April 1, 2016  171.82 

As at March 31, 2017  242.12 

As at March 31, 2018  248.26 

Capital redemption reserve ` in lakhs
As at April 1, 2016  45.00 

As at March 31, 2017  45.00 

As at March 31, 2018  45.00 

As at  
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

 9,602.16 
 4,541.19 
 3,035.24 

 248.26 
 45.00 

 Total  17,471.85 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

15. Borrowings

As at 
March 31, 2018

As at 
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs
Non-current borrowings
Term Loans
Indian rupee loans from Banks (Secured)

Total non-current borrowings
Current borrowings
Term Loans
Current maturity of long term loans

Total current borrowings

Net current borrowings 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

16.  Provisions

As at 
March 31, 2018

As at 
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs
Provision for gratuity

Provision for litigations (Refer note 31)

Total current  118.37  106.23 
Total non-current  98.02  81.44 

17.  Other non-current liabilities

As at 
March 31, 2018

As at 
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs

Total 1123.32 977.56

18. Financial liabilities

As at 
March 31, 2018

As at 
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs
(i) Short term borrowings   

 3,570.04
 -   

 3,570.04  



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

As at  
March 31, 2018

As at  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs
(ii) Trade payables

 4,527.35 
 4,527.35 

As at  
March 31, 2018

As at  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs

 2,036.48 
 1.16 
 2.37 

 2.89 

Total  2,042.90 

19. Other current liabilities

As at  
March 31, 2018

As at  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs

 400.16 
 10.97 

 408.20 
Total  819.33 

20. Revenue from operations

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs
Revenue from operations
Sale of products and services

 14,931.18 
 2,570.30 

 239.21 
 45.16 
 31.10 

 1,633.23 
Other Operating Revenue

 3,658.23 
Revenue from operations  23,108.41 

137

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

21. Other Income

For the year ended 
March 31, 2018

  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs
 -   

 670.00 
 1.26 

 15.50 
 4.68 

 13.59 
Total  705.03

22. Cost of food & beverages consumed

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs
(a) Consumption of food & beverages excluding liquor & wine

 49.41 
 1,464.07 
 1,513.48 

 57.64 
 1,455.84 

(b) Consumption of liquor & wine
 29.14 

 105.59 
 134.73 

 31.54 
 103.19 

Total  1,559.03 

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs

Total  5,093.36 

24. Other expenses

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs
 653.11 

 1,909.03 
 379.73 

 42.21 
 43.29 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs
 262.55 
 405.30 
 167.56 

 1,763.54 
 174.74 
 307.43 

 41.41 
Communication costs  539.23 

 122.93 
 101.54 

 81.85 
 150.12 
 839.07 
 611.22 
 418.19 

 18.95 
 475.24 

 -   
 13.57 

 0.07 
 -   
 -   

 0.00 
 42.00 
 88.34 

Total  9,652.22  9,480.10 
Payment to auditor

 41.00 
 1.00 

 -   
 -   

Total 42.00 42.04

25. Finance costs

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs

 2,708.39 
 283.55 

 16.73 
 225.63 

 0.03 
 4.03 

 190.49 
Total  3,428.85 
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26. Finance income

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs

 28.64 
 495.64 

Total  524.28 

27. Depreciation and amortization expense

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs
 1,943.30 

 28.99 
 4.39 

Total  1,976.68 

28. Earnings per share (Basic and Diluted)  

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs ` in lakhs
` in lakhs)  2,214.25 

 784,588,452 
 0.28 

Judgements



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Operating lease commitments – Company as lessee

 Estimates and assumptions

 Taxes

` `

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Total 413.33 129.22

30. Gratuity 

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Total 108.41 95.44

Risk analysis
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for the year ended March 31, 2018

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

Total  100%  100%

As at
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

5.00% 5.00%

 Years  Years Pension plan
60 60
60 60

` in lakhs

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2018
Assumptions Discount rate Future salary increases

March 31, 2017 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2017
Assumptions Discount rate Future salary increases



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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` in lakhs

Duration (Years)  For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2018

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2017

1

2

3

Total expected payments     295.86 257.50

31. Commitments and contingencies

 a. Leases

 Operating lease commitments — Company as lessee

` in lakhs

Particulars For the year 
ended

March 31, 2018

For the year 
ended

March 31, 2017

Total 1,938.28 1,649.97

Particulars As at
March 31, 2018

As at 
March 31, 2017

48,941.83 35,709.15
Total 56,103.70 41,344.44

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

b. Commitments

`
`

c. Contingent liabilities

As at 
March 31, 2018

As at 
March 31, 2017

Total 166.06 364.80

`

`
`

(f) Financial guarantees



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

Financial guarantees As at
March 31, 2018

As at
March 31, 2017

Total 63,905.00 59,605.00

`

 a)  Stock options granted on and after April 1, 2005.

Plan 1 (2005) Plan 2 (2006)

387,300

Vesting period from the grant date Vesting Schedule
Plan 1 (2005)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

April’17 to March’18 April’16 to March’17

Number of 
options

Weighted average 
exercise price (`)

Number of 
options

Weighted average 
exercise price  (`)

- - 9,000

- -
- - 9,000
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -

- -

April’17 to March’18 April’16 to March’17

Number of 
Options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price(`)

Number of 
Options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price(`)

7,814,678 20.53

487,000 21.50
149,527 21.37

2,318,370 20.32 2,871,902

- -
5,833,781 21.50
2,293,134 21.50

5.70 - 

Range of exercise prices (`) Number of options 
outstanding

Weighted average 
remaining contractual 

life of options (in years)

Weighted average 
exercise price (`)

As at 
March 31, 

2018

As at  

2017

As at 
March  31, 

2018

As at 

2017

As at
 March  31, 

2018

As at

2018

As at 
March  31, 

2018

As at 

2017

10.57-21.50 5,833,781 5.70 21.50



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

Stock Options granted  

`

Plan 1 (2005) Plan 2 (2006)
2018 2017 2018 2017

- 22.92
- 21.50
- 42.15%
- 5
- -
- 7.47%
- -

34. Related Party Transactions

Names of related parties

 
th

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

Names of related parties

Associate
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

35. Fair value measurement

 a.  Financial Assets (other than equity investment/ deemed investment in subsidiaries and associates carried at 
cost)

` in lakhs

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
FVTPL Amortised Cost FVTPL Amortised Cost

Financial Assets
- 2,063.87
- 985.58

311.42
- 253.10

1.68
- 1,327.73
- 571.60
- 154.56
- 1,615.50

1,622.22
Investments -
Total Financial Assets (other than equity investment/ 
deemed investment in subsidiaries carried at cost)

373.67 8,907.26 4,142.34 5,458.59

 b. Financial Liabilities

` in lakhs

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
FVTPL Amortised Cost FVTPL Amortised Cost

Financial Liabilities     

Total Financial Liabilities - 36,413.70 - 35,889.47

 c. Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets and liabilities

  Fair value measurement 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

  i)  Level 1 

  ii)  Level 2

  iii)  Level 3

 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

` in lakhs

March 31, 2018

Total

Financial investments as FVTPL

-

-

- 373.67 373.67

March 31, 2017

Total

Financial investments as FVTPL
0.26

4,142.08

Total 4,142.34 4,142.34



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

Valuation 
technique inputs

Range (weighted average)

36. Financial risk management objectives and policies

 Market risk

 Interest rate risk

` In lakhs

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

31,558.78

321.14

 Interest rate sensitivity

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

Particulars Increase/decrease in basis points 
` In lakhs

`
`

`
`

 Foreign currency risk

 Credit risk

 (a) Trade receivables

` in lakhs

Ageing 31-March-18 31-March-17
Not due

2,063.87 1,456.71

 Provision for doubtful debts (including provision for expected credit loss)

` in lakhs

Ageing 31-March-18 31-March-17
Not due



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Reconciliation of provision for doubtful debts – Trade receivables (including provision for expected credit loss)

` in lakhs

Particulars March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
Provision at beginning 15.62 9.03

Provision at closing 15.95 15.62

 (b) Financial instruments and cash deposits

 Liquidity risk

`

` In lakhs
On demand Less than 3 

months
3 to 12 
months

1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

Year ended March 31, 2018

8,103.81 321.24 1,776.83 17,121.25 9,090.56 36,413.70
Year ended March 31, 2017

8000.94 262.20 1,864.27 15,597.81 10,164.27 35,889.49

37. Capital management

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

March 31, 2018 March31, 2017

Net debt 35,835.68 35,224.92 

Capital and net debt
27% 28%

38. Segment Reporting

 Information about geographical areas

 Information about major customers

39. `
`

`
` `

40.  

41.   



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

42.   

` `

`

`

amounting to `

` `

43. Scheme of Amalgamation

Name of the Company Principal 
Activity

Date of 
Acquisition

Proportion of 
voting equity 
interest 
acquired

Consideration transferred

stands cancelled and the same 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

Name of the Company Principal 
Activity

Date of 
Acquisition

Proportion of 
voting equity 
interest 
acquired

Consideration transferred

stands cancelled and the same 

 Asset Acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition

` In lakhs

Particulars Aster Hotels & Resorts 
Private Limited

HeadStart Institute 
Private Limited

PRN Management 
Services Private Limited

Current Assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Total (5.40) 25.56 (588.43)

 Goodwill arising on acquisition

` In lakhs

Particulars Aster Hotels & 
Resorts Private 

Limited

HeadStart 
Institute Private 

Limited

PRN Management 
Services Private 

Limited

Total

Goodwill/(Capital Reserve) Arising on 
acquisition

5.42 (2.71) (0.08) 2.63

 Impact of acquisitions on the results of the Company



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

44. Details of dues to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006.

` In lakhs
March31, 2018

Nil Nil

Nil Nil

Nil Nil

Nil

Nil Nil

45.  ` `

46.  

47.  

48.  

49.  

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Patanjali G. Keswani Kapil Sharma

Nikhil Sethi
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEMON TREE HOTELS LIMITED

Report on the Consolidated Ind AS Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated Ind 

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Ind AS 
Financial Statements

Auditor’s Responsibility

Opinion
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Other Matters

`
`

`

`

 A. Subsidiaries -

  1. Mezereon Hotels LLP

` 
`

`

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

167

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP 

Vijay Agarwal



ANNEXURE “A” TO THE INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial 
Controls

Auditor’s Responsibility

(Referred to in paragraph (f)under ‘Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements’ section of our report of even 
date) 

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial 
Reporting

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over 
Financial Reporting

Opinion

Other Matters

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP 

Vijay Agarwal



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
as at March 31, 2018

Note As at March  
31, 2018

` in lakhs

As at March  
31, 2017

` in lakhs
ASSETS

5
6
6
7

 2,32,002.05  2,12,814.98 
Current assets

7

11
 13,815.25  8,359.21 

Total Assets  2,45,817.30 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

Total Equity  1,24,348.48  1,23,693.48 
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities

15

16

 96,575.28  72,011.31 
Current liabilities

16

 24,893.54  25,469.40 
Total Liabilities  1,21,468.82  97,480.71 
Total Equity and Liabilities  2,45,817.30  2,21,174.19 

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Vijay Agarwal Patanjali G. Keswani Kapil Sharma

Nikhil Sethi
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS
for the year ended March 31, 2018

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Vijay Agarwal Patanjali G. Keswani Kapil Sharma

Nikhil Sethi

Note Year ended  
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

Year ended  
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

Total Income (I)  49,206.83  42,030.79 

Total Expenses (II)  34,808.70  29,561.34 
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation 
(EBITDA) (I-II)

 14,398.13  12,469.45 

 1,775.68  (32.95)

 1,833.19  (32.95)

 377.83  479.06 
 1,455.36  (512.01)

 (1.81)  7.50 

sheetal.pawar
Highlight



A. Equity Share Capital
Equity shares of INR 10 each issued, subscribed and fully paid No. of shares Amount 

(` in lakhs)
As at April 1, 2016 77,80,41,131  77,804.11 

As at March 31, 2017 78,12,13,033  78,121.30 

As at March 31, 2018 78,63,93,251  78,639.33 

B. Other Equity
 For the year ended March 31, 2018

`

Reserves and Surplus Items of Other 
Comprehensive 

Income

Other 
equity

Capital 
reserve

Capital 
redemption 

reserve

Securities 
premium

Share 
based 

payments 
reserve

General 
reserve

Surplus 
in the 

statement 

loss

Remeasurement Non-
controlling 
interests

As at April 1, 2016  8,145.59  45.00  8,699.91  171.82  3,035.24 (17,122.51)  5.77  42,773.46  45,754.27 
 (512.01)

 7.50 

 -   

 34.50 
 114.13 
 176.13 

 54.61 

 (56.96)

As at March 31, 2017  8,200.20  45.00  8,954.37  242.12  3,035.24 (17,754.30)  13.27  42,836.28  45,572.18 
 1,455.36 

 (1.81)

 -   

 324.33 
 94.54 

 -   

 239.22 
 (1,964.10)

 (4.16)
 (6.40)

As at March 31, 2018  6,234.62  45.00  9,602.15  248.27  3,035.24 (16,331.93)  11.46  42,864.35  45,709.16 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
as at March 31, 2018

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Vijay Agarwal Patanjali G. Keswani Kapil Sharma

Nikhil Sethi

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

For the year ended
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

For the year ended
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

A.
 1,833.19  (32.95)

Cash Generated from Operations
 (317.18)  (419.51)

B.

 (26,006.58)  (22,918.75)



For the year ended
March 31, 2018

` in lakhs

For the year ended
March 31, 2017

` in lakhs

C

 14,896.71  11,132.54 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  2,102.96  1,759.21 
Components of cash and cash equivalents

Total cash and cash equivalents  2,102.96  1,759.21 

For Deloitte Haskins & Sells LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Vijay Agarwal Patanjali G. Keswani Kapil Sharma

Nikhil Sethi
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

1. Corporate Information

2.1 Basis of preparation 

indicated

2.2 Basis of consolidation



176

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

st

 

(a) Business combinations and goodwill

177

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Investments in associates

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

cycle

(c) Foreign currencies

 Transactions and balances

 

(d) Fair value measurement



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

(e) Revenue recognition

 Rooms, Restaurant, Banquets and Other Services 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Sale of goods 

 Interest income

 Dividends

 Management Fee

(f) Taxes

 Current income tax

 Deferred tax



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

  Sales/ value added taxes/GST paid on acquisition of assets 
or on incurring expenses

(g) Property, plant and equipment

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

Fixed Assets Useful life 
considered

(h) Intangible assets

(i) Investment properties



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

(j) Borrowing costs

(k) Leases

 Group as a lessee

 Group as a lessor

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

(l) Inventories

(n) Provisions

 General 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

(o) Deferred Revenue

and 

 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

(q) Financial instruments

 Financial assets

 Initial recognition and measurement

 Subsequent measurement

 Debt instruments at amortised cost

 Debt instrument at FVTOCI

 Debt instrument at FVTPL



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Equity investments

 Derecognition

 

and

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Financial liabilities 

 Initial recognition and measurement

 Subsequent measurement

 Loans and borrowings

 Financial guarantee contracts



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Derecognition

 

(r) Cash and cash equivalents

(s) Share-based payments

(t) Cash Flow Statement

(u) Measurement of EBITDA

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

(v) Recent accounting pronouncements

  Appendix B to Ind AS 21, Foreign currency 

  



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

4. Capital work-in-progress

As at  
March 31, 2018  

(` in lakhs)

As at 
March 31, 2017 

(` in lakhs)
Hotel at Shimla

 568.53 
 72.43 
 29.73 
 83.57 

 2.66 
 756.92 

Hotel at Guragon Sector 60 (Lemon Tree)

Hotel at Guragon Sector 60 (Red Fox)

Hotel at City Center Pune
 7,096.25 
 1,538.34 
 1,072.29 

 155.74 
 89.00 
 12.26 

 1,666.51 
 21.04 

 11,651.43 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

As at  
March 31, 2018  

(` in lakhs)

As at 
March 31, 2017 

(` in lakhs)
Hotel at Mumbai

 9,677.34 
 2,093.51 

 966.47 
 271.56 
 272.55 

 41.93 
 5,161.16 

 182.54 
 18,667.06 

Hotel at Udaipur
 9,728.08 
 1,249.02 

 680.56 
 168.64 

 49.35 
 16.62 
 46.89 

 0.26 
 11,939.42 

Hotel at Kolkata
 2,768.79 

 659.42 
 204.11 

 90.73 
 62.95 

 5.33 
 1.35 

 3,792.68 
Hotel at MIAL Aerocity, Mumbai

 71.12 
 3,168.92 
 4,006.00 

 23.93 
 8.52 

 25.98 
 1,280.37 

 31.87 
 8,616.71 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

As at  
March 31, 2018  

(` in lakhs)

As at 
March 31, 2017 

(` in lakhs)
Hotel at Bandhavgarh, Madhya Pradesh

 740.95 
 213.54 

 18.46 
 0.10 
 4.41 
 0.66 
 6.31 

 984.43 
 (984.43)

 -   
Hotel at Dehradun

 157.01 
 1.10 
 0.82 
 7.80 

 166.73 
Hotel at Banjara Hills

 175.78 
 20.49 

 7.36 
 203.63 
 203.63 

 -   
 55,590.95 

5. Investment property
`

Particulars Total
Cost or valuation
As at April 1, 2016 
Additions 

As at March 31, 2017  258.89 
Additions

As at March 31, 2018  258.89 
Depreciation and Impairment
As at April 1, 2016 

As at March 31, 2017  8.79 

As at March 31, 2018  13.18 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

`

Particulars Total
Net Block

 245.71 

 
`

 
`

 11.62 
 -   

 (0.99)

depreciation and indirect expenses
 10.63 

 (4.39)

indirect expenses
 6.24  9.04 

 

` `

Particulars ` in lakhs
Opening balance as at 1 April 2016  258.89 

Closing balance as at March 31, 2017  258.89 

Closing balance as at March 31, 2018  258.89 

 Description of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation on investment properties

Valuation technique

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

6. Intangible assets
`

Cost or valuation
As at April 1, 2016 

As at March 31, 2017  266.73  673.42  940.16 
Additions

As at March 31, 2018  314.57  676.05  990.62 
Amortisation and impairment
As at April 1, 2016 

As at March 31, 2017  79.23  -    79.23 

As at March 31, 2018  141.97  -    141.97 
Net Block
As at March 31, 2018  172.59  676.05  848.65 

As at
March 31, 2018

As at
March 31, 2017

Intangible assets  848.65 
 316.95 

7. Financial assets

March 31, 2018 
` In lakhs

March 31, 2017 
` In lakhs

(i) Investments

  60.91 

Mutual funds

  340.99 

  583.84 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

March 31, 2018 
` In lakhs

March 31, 2017 
` In lakhs

  173.31 

  10.94 

  67.80 

 18.41 

 
`

 0.26 

 
`

 200.04 

 1,456.50  634.15 

 1,195.30 

 1,195.30 

Current  1,195.30 

Non-Current  261.20 

 1,456.50 

 

March 31, 2018 
` In lakhs

March 31, 2017 
` In lakhs

(ii) Loans

 1,615.50 

 1,615.50 

 

March 31, 2018 
` In lakhs

March 31, 2017 
` In lakhs

Unsecured, considered good

 3,525.88 

 341.15 

 832.67 

 4,699.70 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

8. Other non-current assets

As at  
March 31, 2018 

` In lakhs

As at 
March 31, 2017 

` In lakhs
Unsecured, considered good

 1,369.12 
 48.81 

 286.74 
 502.48 
 317.37 

 19,136.23 
Total  21,660.75 

9.  Inventories

As at 
March 31, 2018 

` In lakhs

As at 
March 31, 2017 

` In lakhs
(Valued at lower of cost or net realisable value)

 154.12 
 105.43 
 279.28 

Total  538.83  493.67 

` `

10.  Financial assets

As at 
March 31, 2018 

` In lakhs

As at 
March 31, 2017 

` In lakhs

 5,252.37 
 5,252.37 

 -   
 -   

 5,252.37 
 40.50 

 5,292.87 
“Impairment Allowance (allowance for bad and doubtful debts)”

 -   
 40.50 
 40.50 

Total Trade receivables  5,252.37 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

As at 
March 31, 2018 

` In lakhs

As at 
March 31, 2017 

` In lakhs

Balance with banks  2,032.79 
 70.17 

Cash on hand  2,102.96 

`

As at 
March 31, 2018 

` In lakhs

As at 
March 31, 2017 

` In lakhs

 26.55 
 26.55

As at 
March 31, 2018 

` In lakhs

As at 
March 31, 2017 

` In lakhs

 0.35 
 331.76 

 1.68 
 1,327.73 
 1,661.52 

11. Other current assets

As At 
March 31, 2018 

` In lakhs

As At  
March 31, 2017 

` In lakhs
Advances recoverable

 1.04 
 485.49 

 8.76 
 495.29 

 8.76 
 486.53 

 13.75 
 859.91 

 13.71 
 10.07 

 417.35 
 1,236.40 

Total  3,037.72 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

12. Share capital

Equity shares
No. of shares ` in lakhs

As at April 1, 2016

As at March 31, 2017  998,550,000  99,855.00 

As at March 31, 2018  1,001,440,000  100,144.00 

5% Redeemable Cumulative 
Preference Shares

No. of shares ` in lakhs
As at April 1, 2016

As at March 31, 2017

As at March 31, 2018

`

 Issued equity capital

` No. of shares ` in lakhs
As at April 1, 2016

As at March 31, 2017

  Share capital   Shares held by  
ESOP trust 

 Share capital (net) 

 No. of shares  ` in lakhs  No. of 
shares 

 ` in lakhs  No. of 
shares 

 ` in lakhs 

As at April 1, 2016 778,102,163 77,810.22  61,032  6.10  778,041,131 77,804.11 

As at March 31, 2017 781,274,065 78,127.41  61,032  6.10  781,213,033 78,121.30 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

  Share capital   Shares held by  
ESOP trust 

 Share capital (net) 

 No. of shares  ` in lakhs  No. of 
shares 

 ` in lakhs  No. of 
shares 

 ` in lakhs 

As at March 31, 2018 786,412,683 78,641.27  19,432  1.94  786,393,251 78,639.32 

 Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the Company    

Name of the shareholder As at March 31, 2018 As at March 31, 2017

No. of 
shares

% held as at 
March 31, 2018

No. of shares % held as at 
March 31, 2017

Equity shares of ` 10 each fully paid up

 192,908,118 24.53%

 207,375,759 26.37%

 78,748,368 10.01%

 118,730,914 15.10%

 Shares reserved for issue under options

  Aggregate number of bonus share issued, share issued for consideration other than cash and shares bought back 

 March 31, 2018  March 31, 2017 
 No. of shares  No. of shares 

13.  Other equity

Securities Premium ` In lakhs

As at April 1, 2016

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

Securities Premium ` In lakhs

As at March 31, 2017  8,954.37 

As at March 31, 2018  9,602.15 

 

Retained Earnings ` In lakhs

As at April 1, 2016  (17,116.74)

As at March 31, 2017  (17,741.03)

As at March 31, 2018  (16,320.47)

Capital Reserve ` In lakhs

As at April 1, 2016  8,145.59 

As at March 31, 2017  8,200.20 

As at March 31, 2018  6,234.62 

General Reserve ` In lakhs

As at April 1, 2016  3,035.24 

As at March 31, 2017  3,035.24 

As at March 31, 2018  3,035.24 

Share-based payments ` In lakhs
As at April 1, 2016  171.82 

As at March 31, 2017  242.12 

As at March 31, 2018  248.27 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

Share-based payments ` In lakhs
Capital redemption reserve ` In lakhs
As at April 1, 2016  45.00 

As at March 31, 2017  45.00 

As at March 31, 2018  45.00 

As at
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs
Other reserves

 9,602.15 
 (16,320.47)

 6,234.62 
 3,035.24 

 248.27 
 45.00 

 2,844.81 

 
 

 

 

 

 

14.  Non-controlling interest

As at
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs
 42,864.35 

  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

15 (i) Borrowings

As at
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs
Non-current borrowings
Term Loans
Indian rupee loans from Banks (Secured)

 12,471.73 
 -   

 3,715.98 
 39,686.57 
 12,984.26 

 368.40 
 16,554.76 

 7,349.67 

Total non-current borrowings  93,131.37  69,070.26 
Current borrowings

 1,182.63 
 -   

 915.95 
 1,043.50 

 82.13 
 108.83 
 916.25 

 154.00 
Total current borrowings  4,403.29  4,050.58 

 (4,403.29)
Net current borrowings  -   

 97,534.66 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

As at
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs

 136.55  48.49 

 136.55 

16 Provisions

As at  
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

As at  
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs

Provision for gratuity  199.04 

 37.42 

 161.62 

 137.45 

 137.45 

 -   

Provision for litigations (Refer note 33)  91.43 

 91.43 

 -   

Total current  266.30 

Total non-current  161.62 

17.1 Deferred tax liability (net)

As at  
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

As at  
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs
 9,572.25 

 2.13 
 377.64 

Deferred tax liability  9,952.02 
 86.39 

 7.12 
 6,415.37 

 49.89 
 37.11 

 3.80 
 12.97 
 12.56 

 433.16 
 972.27 

 17.83 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

As at  
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

As at  
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs
 4.52 
 5.89 
 3.69 
 6.38 

 1,457.86 
Deferred tax asset  9,526.81 
Deferred tax liability (net)  425.21 

As at  
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

As at  
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs
 1,833.19 

34.61%
 614.36 

 (430.40)
 84.70 

 (117.22)
 3.13 

 324.61 
 (101.35)

Net  377.83 
 377.83 

17.2 Non-current tax assets (net)

As at  
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

As at  
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs

 1,873.41 

 1,873.41 

18 Other Non-current liabilities

As at  
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

As at  
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs

 2,720.53 

 2,720.53 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

19 Financial liabilities 

As at  
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

As at  
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs

(i) Borrowings

 3,570.04 

 -   

 -   

 3,570.04 

As at
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

As at
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs

(ii) Trade payables

 8,112.65 

 8,112.65 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 As at 
 March 31, 2018 

 ` In lakhs 

 As at 
 March 31, 2017 

 ` In lakhs 
(iii)

 4,403.29 
 2.12 

 411.29 

 2,363.53 
 0.75 

 16.97 
 3,973.12 

 11,171.07 
   

20 Other current liabilities

As at  
 March 31, 2018 

 ` In lakhs 

As at  
 March 31, 2017 

 ` In lakhs 

 856.45 

 10.97 

 906.06 

 1,773.48 

21 Revenue From Operations

For the year ended 
March 31,2018

` In lakhs

For the year ended
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs

Revenue from operations

Sale of products and services

 34,161.11 

 7,564.07 

 963.61 

 107.32 

 41.62 

 4,946.86 

Other Operating Revenue

 637.79 

 3.77 

Revenue from operations  48,426.15  41,208.07 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

22 Other income

For the year ended
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

For the year ended
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs
 -   

 670.00 
 60.59 

 6.06 
 0.12 

Miscellaneous income  43.92 
 780.68 

   

23 Cost of food and beverages consumed

For the year ended
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

For the year ended
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs
(a)  Consumption of food & beverages excluding liquor & wine

 102.47 
 4,060.11 
 4,162.58 

 154.12 
 4,008.46 

(b)  Consumption of liquor & wine
 111.86 
 343.63 
 455.49 
 105.43 
 350.06 

 4,358.52 

For the year ended
March 31, 2018

` In lakhs

For the year ended
March 31, 2017

` In lakhs
 9,241.63 

 383.47 
 94.54 
 52.05 
 23.34 

 1,162.45 
Total  10,957.49 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

25. Other expenses

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` `
 1,165.69 
 3,064.40 

 623.65 
 4,845.96 

 265.59 
 1,109.16 

 161.53 
 98.12 

 469.77 
-  Plant and machinery  750.53 

 578.18 
 888.58 

 99.40 
 862.95 
 276.85 
 175.84 
 188.43 
 207.79 

 1,354.06 
 898.23 

 24.56 
 865.78 

 0.35 
 14.51 

 0.06 
 4.75 
 8.63 
 5.18 

 75.00 
 409.16 

 19,492.69 
Payment to auditor

 64.00 
 3.00 
 8.00 

 -   
 75.00 

26. Finance costs

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` `

 6,342.39 
 554.26 
 217.96 

 28.12 
 225.63 

 2.67 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` `
 2.25 
 4.03 

 459.59 
 7,836.90 

27. Finance income

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` `

 78.41 
 5.27 

 335.10 
 48.42 

 476.19 

28. Depreciation and amortization expense

For the year ended  
March 31, 2018

For the year ended  
March 31, 2017

` `
 5,196.17 

 62.28 
 4.39 

 (1.09)
Total  5,261.74 

29 Earnings per share (Basic and Diluted)  

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
 1,419.43 

 784,588,452 

 0.18 



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Judgements

 Operating lease commitments – Group as lessee

 Estimates and assumptions

 

 Taxes

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

`

March 31, 2018
`

March 31, 2017
`

Total 627.59 318.67

31. Group information 

 a) Subsidiaries under Direct Control

S. 
No.

Name of the Company Principal 
activities

Country of 
Incorporation

% of equity interest

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

India 74.11%

India 100%

India 57.98%

India 100%

India 100%

India 100%

India 100%

management 
India 100%

India 57.53%

India 100%

India 100%

India 100%

India 10%

Management 
India -

India 58.42%



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 b) Subsidiaries under Indirect Control

S. 
No.

Name of the Company Principal 
activities

Country of 
Incorporation

% of equity interest

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
India 90%

India 57.98%

India 57.98%

India 57.98%

India 57.98%

India 57.98%

India 57.98%

India 100%

India 41.58%

 c) Associate

S. 
No.

Name of the Company Principal 
activities

Country of 
Incorporation

% of equity interest

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
India

Management 
India

 d) Limited Liability Partnership

S. 
No.

India
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

`

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017
199.04

Total 199.04

 Risk analysis

`
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Total 100% 

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

5.00% 5.00%
 Years  Years 

Pension plan
Male 60 60

60 60

 

`

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2018
Assumptions Discount rate Future salary increases

March 31, 2017 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2017 March 31, 2017
Assumptions Discount rate Future salary increases

`

Duration (Years)  For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2018

For the year 
ended 

March 31, 2017
1

5

Total expected payments  427.91 361.39

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

33. Commitments and contingencies 

 a. Leases

 Operating lease commitments — Group as lessee

`

Particulars For the year 
ended

March 31, 2018

For the year 
ended

March 31, 2017

Total 3,602.32 2,274.11

` 

Particulars As at
March 31, 2018

As at 
March 31, 2017

3,468.02
15,331.25

123,304.71
142,103.98

 b. Commitments

` 
`



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 c. Contingent liabilities

 (i) Legal claim contingency

`

As at March 31, 
2018

As at March 31, 
2017

1,471.48

244.00
42.45
56.60
23.60
22.80
69.34

1,930.27

`

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 a)  Stock options granted on and after April 1, 2005.

Plan 1 (2005) Plan 2 (2006)

Vesting period from the grant date Vesting Schedule
Plan 1 (2005)

2017-18
Number of 

options
Weighted average 
exercise price  (`) options `

- -

- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -
- -

- -

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

April’17 to March’18

Number of 
Options

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price (`) Options `

7,814,678 20.53

487,000 21.50

149,527 21.37

2,318,370 20.32

- -

5,833,781 21.50

2,293,134 21.50

5.70 - 

 Range of exercise prices 
(`)

Number of options 
outstanding `

 As at March 
31, 2018

As at March 
31, 2018

As at March 
31, 2018

As at March 
31, 2018

- - - -

10.57-21.50 5,833,781 5.70 21.50

Stock Options granted  

` 

Plan 1 (2005) Plan 2 (2006)
2018 2018

- 22.92
- 21.50
- 42.15%
- 5
- -
- 7.47%
- -



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

36. Related Party Transactions

Names of related parties
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

37. Fair value measurement

 a. Financial assets

`

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Financial Assets     
- 5,252.37

Investments 1,395.59 -
- 3,857.64
- 833.01
- 2,102.96
- 341.15

1,642.04
1,329.40

Total Financial Assets 1,395.59 15,358.57 634.15 10,037.87

`

March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

Financial Liabilities     
- 96,701.41
- 8,112.65
- 11,307.62

Total Financial Liabilities - 116,121.68 - 92,493.08

 

 b. Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets and liabilities

 Fair value measurement 

 i)  Level 1 

 ii)  Level 2

 iii)  Level 3



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

`

March 31, 2018

Financial assets
Financial investments as FVTPL

March 31, 2017

Financial assets
Financial investments as FVTPL

38. Financial risk management objectives and policies

 Market risk

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Interest rate risk

 `

 March 31, 2018 March 31, 2017

100,627.47

477.23

 Interest rate sensitivity

`

 
March 31, 2018   

March 31, 2017  

 Foreign currency risk

 Credit risk

 (a) Trade receivables



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

`

Ageing 31-March-18 31-Mar-17

 Provision for doubtful debts (including provision for expected credit loss)

`

Ageing 31-March-18 31-March-17

 Reconciliation of provision for doubtful debts - Trade receivables (including provision for expected credit loss)

`

 31-March-18 31-March-17
Provision at beginning 36.65 31.10

Provision at closing 40.50 36.65

Reconciliation of provision for doubtful debts - Loans and deposits

`

 

 (b) Financial instruments and cash deposits

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

 Liquidity risk

`
`

`

On demand Less than 3 
months

3 to 12 
months

1 to 5 years > 5 years Total

Year ended March 31, 2018

18,587.02 547.36 3,942.99 36,182.25 56,862.06 116,121.68
Year ended March 31, 2017

19,372.24 420.45 3,538.38 33,123.14 36,038.88 92,493.08

39. Capital management

`

March 31, 2018  March 31, 2017

Net debt 107,114.39 84,152.13

Capital and net debt
46% 40%



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

40. Segment Reporting

41. `
` `

` `

42. Changes in Ownership interest in Subsidiaries

`

`

`

43. Scheme of Amalgamation

 a) Acquisition by parent company

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

Name of the Company Principal 
Activity

Date of 
Acquisition

Proportion of 
voting equity 
interest 
acquired

Consideration transferred

amalgamation stands cancelled and 

amalgamation stands cancelled and 

Management 

 Asset Acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of acquisition

`

Particulars Aster Hotels & Resorts 
Private Limited

HeadStart Institute 
Private Limited

PRN Management 
Services Private Limited

Current Assets

Non-current assets

Current liabilities

Total (5.40) 25.56 (588.43)

 Goodwill arising on acquisition



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

`

Particulars Aster Hotels & 
Resorts Private 

Limited

HeadStart 
Institute Private 

Limited

PRN Management 
Services Private 

Limited

Total

acquisition
5.42 (2.71) (0.08) 2.63

 Impact of acquisitions on the results of the Company

 b) Acquisition by Subsidiary company

`
` `

 `

Particulars Fair value of 
assets and 

liabilities 

Total assets (A)     544.32 

Total liabilities (B) 383.70 
Net asset taken over (A-B)      160.62 
Amount paid      834.04 
Goodwill      673.42 

Net cash on acquisition 831.35 

44.  

45.  

` `

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
for the year ended March 31, 2018

`

`
`

` `

46. Details of dues to Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises as per MSMED Act, 2006.

`

March 31, 2018

47.  

48.  

49.  

50.  

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 

Patanjali G. Keswani Kapil Sharma

Nikhil Sethi
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